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1. Introduction

The religious life of the inhabitants of Istria in Roman time was rich and variegated, determined by the different degree of historical, cultural, political and economical systems in the northeastern area, at the periphery of the Roman state. It was exactly this vigour of multilayered spiritual life of the inhabitants of Istria in the Roman period that enabled us to establish the time, mode and intensity of institution, diffusion and systematic worship of each individual cult emerged in Istria. Therefore, it is very important to make a clear distinction between the state religion and the established official cults as well as to tell religious tradition from ancestor worship and reverence for lower deities, demigods, mythological creatures and heroes of the newly settled inhabitants. We should also stress instances of ritual offerings to household deities, Lares, Manes and other supernatural powers with the purpose of protection of fire, food and one’s family and home, deep-rooted in the tribal and clan-system tradition of Romanized Veneti, Histri, Liburnians and of various settlers ( Degrassi A., 1070, 615-632; Jurkić V., 1974, 9-33; Jurkić V., 1987, 65-80; Starac A., 1995, 5-57; Starac, A., 1999, 11-15). 

Religious ritual sacrifices and official cults’ services during the Roman Republic were as a rule performed in public places of the city land area, in the open space, at the forum, in front of the temples and in vestibules of the temples beneath or on the Capitolium. The ceremonial worship was taking place at traditional places of worship, sites commonly used by autochthonous tribes for ceremonies of religious observance; after the Roman conquest of Istria in 177 BC and especially after establishment of the colonies, those sites became Romanized places of worship. It is in Augustan period of the Roman Empire, the time of systematic rebuilding of the Republican colonies and erection of new coastal towns in Istria, that the almost parallel duality of the politics-related existence and significance of a cult stand out: so we distinguish the official state religion (Jupiter, Juno, Minerva, Neptune, Mars, Venus, Hercules) and the religion emerged from and cultivated in a native ethnic milieu and ethically shaped polyvalent Romanized urban environment, even more the free worships of rural communities (Eia, Ica, Sentona, Iutossica, Boria, Trita, Nebres, Iria, Melosocus). This fusion and the clear distinction of the dichotomous religious aspect, the free one and the one almost induced within the Roman society, is reflected in the variform building typology of cultic centres, the diverse divine dedications of their buildings and spatial arrangement of the area in which a cult was worshipped and was evolving (Jurkić V., 1978, 37-47; Jurkić V., 1983, 147-171; Jurkić V., 2005, 112-118). 

According to last research, the number of such cultic centres in Roman Istria at the time of the first colonies and municipia in the second half of the first century BC and first century AD is not particularly considerable. However, it is not only their number and quantification that count; we should also take care of their typology, time  determination, dedication and economic and social status of the residents of major Istrian cities of the Roman period, residential villas and economic production centres.
There is the ever-present question of the dating: the existence and development of cult centres at the time of marked tribal and clan systems, as well as a strong overall independence, when the region was not part of the Roman Empire or the new conception of a cultic centre after the inclusion of Istria (Histria) into the Tenth Italic Region (Regio Decima Italica) from 16 to 12 BC, later known as Venetia et Histria when the border from River Rižana (Formio) has been transferred to the River Raša (Arsia) (Jurkić V., 1999, 31-42; Degrassi A., 1954, 55; Matijašić R., 1991, 235-251; Starac A., 1999, 57-60). 
It is within the context of such a research that questions, related to the following authentic traditional proto-Histrian and Histrian cultic centres, pose themselves: Mordele, Sv. Anđeo (Baćić B., 1978, 32, 35), the prehistoric Nesactium and the temples of urban centres like the Roman Poreč (Parentium), Pula (Pola) and the municipium Nesactium. As far as we know, the Poreč cultic centre situated on Marafor was dedicated to the Roman gods Mars and Neptune (Amoroso A., 1908, 191-204; Pogatschnig A., 1914; Pogatschnig A., 1926, 1-38; Jurkić V., 2005, 107-109), that is to Jupiter, according to another version; the central temple in Pula was dedicated to Hercules or Jupiter, the western temple to Augustus and Roma and, according to tradition, the eastern temple was dedicated to the goddess Diana (Forlati Tamaro B., 1971, 20; Jurkić V., 2005, 104-107); the Nesactium Capitoline triad, it is presumed, was based on Eia's Histrian cultic centre (the southern temple) (Jurkić V., 1983, 147-171; Jurkić V., 1998, 24). 
Cultic centres of Istrian wealthy residential and rural areas are arousing our special interest and are definitely worth mentioning. They are important for their exceptionally high-quality architectural and interior decoration features. Such is, for example, the Brijuni cultic centre at Verige Bay dedicated to Neptune and Venus and probably also to Jupiter, the supreme Roman god, or Mars, located within the complex of one of the most representative Roman patrician villas of the Campania type on the east Adriatic coast (Mlakar Š., 1971; Jurkić V., 1981, 77-106; Jurkić V., 1998, 24; Begović D.-Schrunk I., 2006. 62-68). In the surroundings of Rovinj (Ruginium) or in the landed area of the city itself the almost identical temples to the autochthonous goddess Histria and the Roman Fortuna have been erected by the same dedicants (Jurkić V., 1974, 9-33), while a temple to Juno Feronia (Iuno Feronia) has been erected in Novigrad (Degrassi A., 1936, no. 77; Degrassi A., 1970, 620; Jurkić V., 2005, 149).  

Caius Iulius Crisogons' rural villa in Štinjan, in the Pula surroundings, had a space dedicated to Silvanus, Mithras and Nemesis. The locations of lararia (lararium), small house altars usually shaped as small temples, can not be determined beyond doubt due to the fact that their existence in Istria was not supported by any architectural remains whatsoever despite an abundant country, rural and urban archaeological topography of Roman Istria. However, stone votive monuments and bronze statuettes (Salus, Liberus, Vesta, Here, Magna Mater, Isis, Minerva, Hercules, Isis Fortuna, Mercur, Juno, Luna, Priapus, Dionisius, etc.) reveal beyond doubt the existence of Roman house lararia within the premises of both luxurious and modest villae rusticae in Istria (Katoro, Savudrija, Goričica near Buzet, Vižinada, Loron, Vabriga, Tar, Bale, Brtonigla, Kringa, Premantura, Vižula, Rabac and other) (Jurkić V., 2005, 95-111, 121-240).

The reverence for Penates, the patron gods of the household storeroom and food, was suggested indirectly through the findings of shells, bones of rabbits, poultry and pigs within the necropolises or some of the premises within country villas (Červar, Brijuni – Kastrum, Barbariga, Sorna, Katoro and other). These were remains of incineration sacrifices and libations performed during the daily consummation of food and drink and during feasts (Jurkić V., 1981a, 77-106). 
The worship of Roman, Italic, Romanized, Greek, Hellenistic and Oriental cults in Istria was indirectly evidenced by finds of stone reliefs and inscriptions (Mithras, Sol), votive altars and inscriptions (Neptune, Heracles, Silvanus, Flora, Nemesis, Venus Celestis, Here, Isis, Terra Histria, Terra Mater, Magna Mater, Bona Dea), texts which undoubtedly indicate the existence of the collegium of the dendrophoroi, the 'tree-bearers', loyal servants of the cult of Magna Mater, and mention pontifex maximus as the highest priest of the Ancient Roman College of Pontiffs of the Capitoline Triad (Jupiter, Juno, Minerva) in Pula and Nesactium, and the Augustales – priests of the Imperial Cult. These evidences of cultic sites, however indirect and with no traces of architectural remains, still manage to complete the topographic picture of the Roman Istria antique Pantheon (Jurkić V., 1998, 24-25; Jurkić V., 2005, 95-111). 
Each of the aforementioned cult-related instances deserves to be thoroughly studied and elaborated in its own separate chapter, but as the subject of this paper are the Capitolium cultic centres of the Roman Istria from the Mirna River (Quieto, Ponte Porton) to the Raša River (Arsia), I shall try to confine my exposition within the framework of the given theme and geographical area.
Special attention should be given to the temples in which the official cult was observed, usually erected on the central elevation in a city or on a marked place of a Capitolium on a city square specially designed for its purpose – the forum. Architectural remains of such temples have been discovered in Pula, Nesactium and Poreč. It should be noted here that in Roman time the Capitolium did not necessarily have to be the highest point of the city; it is rather pretty generally conceived of as an elevated place situated on the forum in which the worship of the official cult was traditionally observed. Pietro Kandler's and Francesco Carrara's hypothesis that the central hill in Pula (Kaštel) has probably retained its Capitoline status after the civil war (31 BC), during the Augustan reconstruction of the city, is generally dismissed today (Carrara G., 1846; Kandler P., 1858; Jurkić V., 1998, 26, V.). Namely, repeated archaeological excavations and research conducted on the Pula forum revealed foundations of the central temple which in all probability was dedicated to Jupiter, the Roman supreme deity, or the demigod Hercules whose worship has longer tradition in Pula, dating back to the first century BC, only to reveal that this very same temple was added two temples flanking it on both sides in the first century AD. Therefore the Capitolium, as one of the many centres and modalities of cult observances, its planimetry and spatial organization are in close connection with the specific type of urban settlement: the Capitolium type will vary depending on whether it was located in a “pure Roman” city, like the  colonies and municipia, municipal communities of Roman citizens  - Pula and Poreč, later also Rovinj and Novigrad, or in a city of a continuing existence with a strong indigenous mark of an old autochthonous cultic location such as municipium Nesactium (Krizmanić A., 1988, 100-102; Jurkić V., 1998, 26). 

Further consideration can begin with the more or less generally accepted theory according to which the majority of Istrian cities were basically prehistoric hill-forts with the “spider-web” layout – a system of streets spreading radially from the city’s nucleus – which have been expanded, built and urbanized during the Roman organized and planned development. That was the case with the colonia Pola, its new lower part actually, the pars inferior coloniae, and with the colonia Parentium. The concept of Capitoline temples in both cities was modelled on the Roman Capitoline temple, the two of them being basically reproductions of the latter one, and likewise dedicated to the Capitoline Triad, as suggested by Vitruvius. 

However, in Istria this rule was not strictly obeyed and there were certain deviations of the original concept, different in each city, regarding both the development of the architectural concept and the transitional sequence of spirituality, partly due to a strong influence of the cults. Such Capitoliums as a rule have three cellae or are a single building with a triple or rarely double inner cella, depending on the development phase of a concept and the time of the actual erection of the temple, as well as the degree of reflection of local autochthonous building and cultic components present in individual temples. 
Both of the above mentioned types of building temples are to be found in Istria. Firstly, Roman towns with a strong autochthonous cultural and ethnic component, which at the time of their foundation already had a determined physical framework and the main directions of communications spreading radially and concentrically from the nucleus forming in that way the so called spider-web raster, could also have other town planning and architectural solutions. So, for example, there was no new temple built dedicated to the Roman Capitoline Triad due to the fact that usually some old shrine dedicated to a local syncretized Roman deity with great traditional significance was rebuilt and converted into a temple. That was exactly what had happened in Nesactium: the Histric Eia was syncretized with the primeval prehistoric fertility cult and was identified with Bona Dea, Terra Mater or Juno, while another deity, probably an official Roman one, Juno perhaps, was worshipped in the other cella of the same temple. For this reason in the first phase of introduction of the Capitoline Triad next to local deities it would be wrong to identify and define a “Roman” town just on terms of the existence of a large Capitoline temple. Erection of a large central Capitoline temple during the period of the Roman Republic, having one ore two cellae, on a traditionally consecrated ground, dedicated to the local patron (Pula – Hercules, Nesactium – Eia, Poreč – Histria), indicates gradual Romanization of Istria; regardless of the Roman conquest in 177 BC, the Romanization was proceeding at a slow pace due to a very vigorous (and all-pervasive) native spiritual, cultural and customary tradition being present in every aspect of life. However, after the proclamation of the Roman Empire in 27 BC and the establishment and a growing influence of the Julio-Claudian royal house, the town planning concept undergoes change with the introduction of the new scheme of the Capitolium. That happened in Istria also, especially in Pula where the Imperial Cult has been introduced during the Augustan period. The concept of a monumental central main temple on the Forum having two or three cellae has been replaced by a new spatial and architectural concept based on new spiritual and religious valour, represented by three temples: the central one and the two almost identical cultic edifices flanking it on both sides (Manasse G.C., 1978; Krizmanić A., 1987; Matijašić R.-Matijašić Buršić K., 1996, 67-101; Jurkić V., 1988, 26-27).

Very often the smaller cultic complexes were modelled on the architectural examples of the complexes located in bigger centres in their nearest surroundings or the wider area, like was the case with Pula and Nesactium or Pula and the residential complex at Verige Bay on Brijuni (Begović V.-Schrunk I., 2006, 43-47, 50-93). Such phenomena occurred throughout human history, from primeval times to the present day. A Capitolium with three temples has been discovered in Nesactium: in its final phase it was almost identical to the one in Pula in terms of space and its dimensions, although the political significance of Nesactium was only secondary in regards to Pula (Jurkić V., 1996, 81-90.; Šašel J., 1996, 25-29; Jurkić V., 1998, 15-24). Almost the same situation can be evidenced in the old autochthonous Nin (Aenona) whose Capitoline temple was bigger and more luxurious than the one in the Roman Zadar (Iadera), but modelled on the later one as evidenced by its conceptual disposition (Suić, M. 1976, 162). Therefore, when we talk about cultic centres and their typology in Istria we should first take a more detailed look at Nesactium, despite the fact that during the Roman period the settlement has never managed to restore the economic and political significance it had in prehistoric and protohistoric periods. However, Nesactium is an excellent example of the sequence of transformations from a traditional cultic centre to a new form of Roman Capitolium, taking place from prehistory until late antiquity. (Jurkić V., 1996, 81-90; Jurkić V.-, 2005, 95-111). 
2. The cultic centre of Nesactium (Municipium Nesactium) 
For a better understanding of the complex issue of Istrian cultic centres it is necessary to consider the antique Nesactium from the point of our understanding of specific spiritual culture during protoantique and antique periods. Nesactium was a very important political and religious centre during prehistory, which is witnessed by numerous stone monuments representing Kouroi and Korae (the most famous being the sculpture of the Great Mother giving birth and the equestrian deity) and stone slabs adorned by geometric motifs of the spiral and the meander (Mladin J., 1966, 1-75; Mihovilić K., 1983, 26-27, 73; Mihovilić K., 1983a, 91-93). Numerous bronze and iron items, for everyday use and used for cult purposes, found in the area of the spacious necropolis confirm the religious significance of Nesactium during the Bronze and Iron Age (1100 – 177 BC) (Forlati Tamaro B., 1925, 116-131; Mladin J., 1966, 1-75; Fischer J., 1996, 69-74). Nesactium was a municipium in the fullest sense of the word; it probably had all the features of a city when Titus Livius mentioning it referred to it as oppidum in the first century AD. It was part of the Pula colonial ager, had priests of the Augustan cult and developed all the characteristics of a municipality during the Early Empire (from first to third century AD) (Margetić L., 1980, 75-101; Jurkić V., 1983, 7-17; Jurkić V., 1983a; Džin K., 2005, 229-235; Džin K., 2005a, 9-27). Its architectural and religious histories were developing in an uninterrupted sequence, and that had a great impact on its further development in the overall economic, spiritual and political sense. 
During the first systematic reconnaissance of the Nesactium area, Carlo de Franceschi discovered an altar dedicated to the autochthonous goddess Eia, while research of a part of the living quarters in the north part of the city and of men’s thermae revealed another altar to Eia and a rustic one dedicated to the autochthonous goddess Trita. The occurrences of altars to autochthonous deities instead to official Roman gods have led the archaeologists at the beginning of the twentieth century into conclusion that Nesactium worshipped local deities and probably was a place of worship dating back to prehistory and continuing in existence until Roman times. This conclusion was especially referring to continuous reverence of the goddess Eia, worshipped in Pula and Dvigrad also, i.e. worshipped on the whole territory of the Pula ager stretching to the Lim Bay (limes) (Jurkić V., 1974, 8-33; Jurkić V., 1981, 147-171; Jurkić V., 2005, 122-124). Unearthing of a residential building south of the Forum, on the slope facing Budava Bay, revealed a fragment of a gable representing a young women encircled by a garland. According to the hairstyle resembling that of Agrippina the Younger, the relief is probably dating from the period of Claudius and Nero (mid-first century AD) Sticotti P., 1934, 251-269; Jurkić V.-Džin K., 2006, 120-121). As the gable contains a depiction of two Genii with their legs crossed carrying a garland with a female figure, Pietro Sticotti published an article on the gable of the temple of Eia in 1905 based on Weiss' reconstruction; it was probably half the temple of Augustus in terms of dimensions, but the composition of the gable brings the two temples in connection (Sticotti P., 1905a, 203-211; Jurkić V., 1998, 27). Gian Rinaldi Carlo saw two Genii with their legs crossed holding a medallion with the representation of Rome on the gable of the Augustus’ temple in Pula as early as the eighteenth century (Carli, G.R., 1794, 134). We know for sure that the Augustus’ temple in Pula was dedicated to Rome. I am quoting all the aforesaid because there are scholars who hold that the Nesactium gable belongs to some sepulchral aedicula or some other smaller shrine, with no reference whatsoever to the personification of the autochthonous Romanized Eia (Matijašić R., 1996, 105-106). As the gable was found in the vicinity of a solid building not sufficiently researched, Sticotti's theory that we are probably dealing with Eia's shrine dating from the mid-first century AD situated in close proximity of the Roman forum, which was built as the architectural substitution of the larger and older Eia's shrine near the prehistoric necropolis, stays open and in need of further substantiation (Sticotti P., 1934, 251-269; Sticotti P., 1934a). 
In 1922 archaeological research in the area of the so called “cyclopic” walls in Nesactium have begun, inside the perimeter of the late antique fortification walls, to the west of forum, revealing imposing foundations executed in the corbelled-stone technique (Sticotti P., 1934, 251-269). The same building technique in Nesactium can be seen only at the northwestern angle of the fortification walls, near the so called prehistoric gates. As the research on the western part of the Forum was interrupted only to be continued in 1940 and 1941, this erection was at first thought to be the town defensive wall, and later a cultic site dating from the period of the Republic, with no precise determination though. Research carried out in the eve and during World War II have established existence of a complete perimeter of premises in this sector, extending in the continuation of the so called “cyclopic” wall, and revealed another two quadrangular Roman buildings rightfully identified by Mario Mirabella Roberti as Roman Capitolium. Further research determined perimeters of the southern building dating from the Republican period, i.e. the oldest temple (A), the central part of the building (B) and the northern foundations of an edifice (C), that enabled researchers to define the approximate dimensions and the size of the Capitolium (A, B, C) on the Nesactium Forum (Mirabella Roberti M., 1949, 271 et seq.). 
During the revision excavations of the same Capitolium area from 1978 to 1981 a definite layout of the Capitolium has been determined along with the dimensions of the temples' foundations, elevations and different levels of the foundations because the buildings were erected on the hill whose slopes gradually descend south to the sea of the Budava Bay (Jurkić V., 1996, 81-90; Jurkić V., 1998, 28, note 20). The area of the access staircase with platforms on the western side of the Forum has been established, the staircase leading to the temples located on the eastern side. Research carried out by the author of this paper from 1978 to 1981 have completed the archaeological data on the architectonics (Jurkić V., 2005, 100-104) and partial stone and fresco ornamentation of the temples; the prehistoric layer under the foundations and within the perimeter of the central (B) and northern (C) temples has been studied by Kristina Mihovilić (Mihovilić K., 1983, 26-27, 73; Mihovilić K., 1983a, 91-93; Mihovilić K., 1996, 61-64), while Robert Matijašić interpreted the elements of stone ornamentation (Matijašić R., 1996, 91-110). 
It was precisely these revision excavations and partly the new ones along with the research and analyses that resulted in the most comprehensive layout and concept reconstruction of the tripartite Capitolium in Nesactium (Jurkić V., 1998, 28, Fig. 6, Fig. 12). 
The oldest temple (A), erected on the corbelled-stone foundations dating from the period of the Republic has a rectangular layout measuring 7.6 x 18.8 metres. The disposition of interior walls indicates the existence of a tetrastyle portico (pronaos) resembling the portico of the Augustus’ temple in Pula, with a double cella on the longer axis and a tripartite space behind the cella which was 2.1 meters wide. A large platform of the same width as the portico indicates a regular rhythm of stairs on the eastern side of the temple. This is the only temple with such disposition of inner premises; such disposition, though, suggests simultaneous worship of autochthonous cults and the Capitoline Triad in its original long-time religious purpose.
 The central temple (B), built on a bedrock, was erected within the area of the prehistoric necropolis so that an intact find of the incineration tomb architecture with funerary gifts of Hellenistic origin was found under the layer of packed foundations. Thorough excavations revealed part of the temple’s foundations (9.6 x 17.3 metres) and of the opisthodomos (9.6 x 4.5 metres) with its walls dating from different phases of the construction. The total dimensions of the temple’s ground-plan measuring 9.6 x 21.8 metres reveal its grandiosity and its functional significance. The lateral sides of the foundations continue to extend under the pronaos and the space in front of the pronaos; in that way the northern foundations are an extension of the remains of an unidentified construction foundations, maybe pack of a former platform. The structural walls of the temple are of a significantly more massif construction compared to the partition walls added during the subsequent addition of the opisthodomos on its western side.   
The third temple (C) is of the same dimensions as the temple (A) (7.6 x 18.8 metres) and is the only cultic building on the Nesactium forum with partly preserved layer of its packed floor and several layers of the floor with partial floor mosaic consisting of somewhat larger black and white tesserae.
All three forum temples in Nesactium have their front facades laying in the same line, marking one side of the perimeter of a traditionally conceived forum which has been submitted to systematic excavations and research carried out by Kristina Džin since 2005 (Džin K., 2005, 229-235).

For the quality and morphology of the ornamental elements and final decoration of the facades, the two lateral temples (A and C) are probably dating from the Flavian dynasty. The other type of fragmentary stone decoration, of larger dimensions and a monumental execution, according to comparative measuring of the motifs of the palm and the flower and the occurrence of a continuous undulating shape carved in the stone, sets the erection of temples in the period between the late second and the early third centuries AD. 
Therefore, an approximate systematization of the chronology of institution and sequence of erection of the temples on the western part of the Nesactium forum can be given (Jurkić V., 1996, 81-90; Jurkić V., 1998, 29) according to the results of the excavations, the established ground-plans and dimensions of each cultic edifice, the findings of the analyses related to manufacture, and decoration of fragments of temples’ stone elements (according to Robert Matijašić) and the accompanying archaeological material.
The oldest temple (A) has been erected as a shrine on one end of the prehistoric necropolis after the fall of Nesactium in 177 BC, on a traditional cultic site dating back to the prehistory and probably dedicated to autochthonous deities (Terra Histria or Eia, or both of them) as suggested by the find of a double cella foundations.
After foundation of the colony of Pola in the mid-first century BC and the effectuation of political, administrative and spiritual transformations, the temple (A) undergoes architectural, functional and cult-related modifications. In accordance with the spirit of the “new time”, the statues representing the three deities of the Capitoline Triad have been introduced and placed in the three rear premises, side by side with the local traditional deities. Such architectural and cultic organization of the temple remains unaltered, in relation to its unaltered function, until the late first century AD. In accordance with the established cult, the complex dedicated to the Capitoline Triad in Pula and to worship of the sublime Imperial Cult in the Augustus’ temple, in Flavian period, i.e. in the late first and the early second centuries AD, Nesactium saw erection of two temples: the central (B) and the northern one (C), the building carried out according to established architectural custom and forms. Probably the decision regulating the erection of the temples should be attributed to Titus Prifernius Paetus, the municipium and res publicae Nesactiensium’s prefect of the Flavian period whose monument was discovered in 2005 (Džin K., 2005, 229-235; Džin K., 2007, 26-27). This phase of construction is evidenced also by the material finds of the compact pack of corridors 2.0 metres high, the width of the corridor between the temples A and B measuring 1.7 metres and the one between the temples B and C 2.0 metres.
The southern (A) temple has been rebuilt and the new northern temple (C) built, both of them according to the new uniform architectural scheme of the Capitolium – the later one probably having the same function of a Curia as the one in Pula. The central temple in Nesactium, unlike the ones on the Pula and the Parentine forums, was the latest of the three temples to have been erected which, and being the Capitolium temple, assumes the main cultic function during the reign of Marcus Aurelius and the empress Faustina (161 – 180? AD). During Gordian III (238 – 244 AD) it was probably submitted to partial alterations of its architectural dimensions and decorations when by addition of the opisthodomos on its west side became the most monumental and the most representative building on the forum (Forlati Tamaro B., 1947, no. 672; Jurkić V., 1983, 7.17; Jurkić V., 1996, 81 et seq.; Jurkić V., 2005, 102). 
The excavations revealed that the temple foundations and the visible parts of the walls had been executed in different masonry techniques. The architectural scheme of a Capitolium with its three separate cellae inside the temples divided by corridors figured as a well-proportioned symmetrical and harmonious whole belonging to the last and final phase in the process of architectural development of the Capitolium, which, according to Mansuelli, closely resembles the Brescia (Brixia) type of Capitolium in the Cisalpine Gaul. According to Mate Suić, the Capitolium type characterized by three separate cellae is to be found in Salona and Pula. In this context the typology of the Capitolium in Pula is based on latest research carried out in the southeastern part of the Pula forum (Jurkić V., 1998, 30).
In the analysis of the building chronology of the Nesactium Capitolium and its phases, having three separate cellae in its final Roman phase, it is absolutely necessary to take a look at the social and political development of Nesactium, because the religious life in the Roman Empire was closely tied to the political situation and the state organization. 
It should be mentioned by all means that the cultic sites are the most conservative ones and that after the Roman conquest of Nesactium and Istria in 177 BC they were never submitted to alterations or relocations unless some really serious reason occurred. In Nesactium, the traditionally strong piety and creed of the Romanized Histri were observed in the oldest, southern temple (A) during the Republic and the early Empire, which was erected on the foundations and over a part of an older shrine which was flanking the southern perimeter of the prehistoric and protohistoric necropolis. The southern temple has been built on a sheer rock and flanking the necropolis on its southern side, and in its first two phases it did not have the central position on the Roman forum. Skilful political and diplomatic attitude towards the autochthonous inhabitants, exerting by tradition a developed form of diplomacy and religious tolerance, Romans in Istria conformed to the traditional rules of behaviour and belief and tolerated worship of one autochthonous deity in the remodelled prehistoric building which was located on the even older prehistoric consecrated cultic location. We can only speculate on the identity of the deity it had been dedicated to because no direct evidence has ever been found. It could have been Terra Histria (Sanader M., 1999, 140 – 148), as one votive altar dedicated to this deity was found outside the Nesactium fortification walls, on the road leading to Pula. On the other hand, it could have been Bona Dea, mentioned in the inscription on an architrave, the only one of that kind found in Istria. The present hypothesis, which still lacks further substantiation, is that this shrine was dedicated to Eia, her cult being the most representative in southern Istria, accompanied by a Roman official deity (Juno) in the later integral Capitoline concept (Jurkić V., 2005, 102 – 103).
Other undiscovered sanctuaries and cultic locations in need of research, situated within the forum’s perimeter and in the wider Nesactium area should be mentioned here. Votive inscriptions to Trita, Melosocus Augustus, a marble statue of Magna Mater, stone head of Atis, and votive bronze statuettes of Hercules, Jupiter, Juno and Dionysius have been found. Their smaller shrines were probably located somewhere around the city thermae and within the forum area because altars dedicated to the aforementioned deities were used as building material and walled into fortification walls during their reconstruction (Jurkić V., 1972, 43-47; Jurkić V., 1975, 285-298; Jurkić V., 1978, 175-188; Jurkić V., 1998, 30). 
However, reverence of the Imperial Cult in both Nesactium and Pula has been substantiated by an inscription mentioning sex vir Augustala. It is a sepulchral titulus (inscription) mentioning names without the family name, i.e. the third name, dating from the first century AD according to B. Forlati Tamaro. This member of the Augustales was probably attending to the worship of the Imperial Cult in Nesactium (Sticotti P., 1908, 12-25; Forlati Tamaro B., 1947, no. 679; Rosada G., 1998, 127-137). 
Given the available data and sources, the survey of relevant information and indicators determining individual phases in the development of Nesactium as a political and spiritual centre of the colonial ager of Pula, leads us to the following conclusion: the second century BC Nesactium knew of a sanctuary built on the southern part of the prehistoric necropolis (large stone blocks of the foundations in the corbelled-stone technique), based on strong autochthonous religious tradition. During formation of the colonial ager of Pula in the mid-first century BC, and during gradual settlement of the Italic population, especially those of Oriental origins, and Romanization of the native inhabitants, a sanctuary, probably dedicated to one of the Histric deities (Eia, Terra Histria, Terra Mater), built on massive foundations of an older consecrated place has been reconstructed and Juno was introduced, the most similar Roman official deity also connected with the fertility cult which was so deep-rooted in Nesactium’s local tradition. 
During Claudius’ reign and through the whole first century, after obtaining the status of the prefaecturae with regard to the colony of Pula, with well-defined elements of municipal government based on a significant religious independence and autochthonous spiritual vigour of its people, Nesactium was systematically built, it obtained the status of a municipium and assumed an appearance of a Roman town with all its public and private buildings, being a traditional and religious antipode of the nearby Pula (Gnirs A., 1910, 12-25; Forlati Tamaro B., 1923, 211-223; Mirabella Roberti M., 1940, 250-259; Jurkić V., 2005, 101-102). During the Flavian period and following the example of Pula, the capital city of the ager with a Roman forum and a tripartite Capitolium, the inhabitants of Nesactium wanted to develop likewise their own town and display their overall loyalty to the Roman authority, and so, above one part of a then abandoned prehistoric necropolis, they erected a Capitolium with three separate cellae, temples which according to Mate Suić are held to be a specific phenomenon of east Adriatic architecture (Bianchi V., 1950, 349; Suić M., 1976, 162; Džin K., 2005, 229-235). 
In the end, we can conclude by stating that the official tripartite Capitolium was the political expression of the Imperial Cult worship cultivated in Nesactium as a token of civilian loyalty towards Rome of its inhabitants, as well as manifestation of the traditional piety of the Romanized Roman citizens which was observed in the older temple or in the nearby smaller urban and suburban places of worship (Jurkić V., 1998, 31). 

3. The cultic centre of Pula (Colonia Iulia Pola)

In distinction from Nesactium, the temples in Pula were erected in a completely reversed order, although the final architectural phase saw completion of the Capitoline Triad. During the establishment of the colonia Pietas Iulia, in the mid-first century BC, a single temple with a tripartite cella, according to the consuetudo italica, was conceptually worked out and erected on the nortwestern side of the Roman forum. The finds of a preserved platform base, a rear facade and the southern lateral perimeter suggest that this temple occupied a central position in the first – plebeian newly adapted and regulated forum (at 0.88 metres altitude above sea-level), flanked to the north-west by an older town basilica. The basilica was erected on the sea shore as the first mercantile centre built on a landfill in the Pula Bay (Jurkić V., 1978a, 95-107). Mario Mirabella Roberti has it that this cultic place on a platform was dedicated to Hercules, the patron of the colonia Pola; a stoned relief dedicated to this deity was incorporated into the arch of the oldest town gates (Hercules' Gates) (Mirabella Roberti M., 1940, 250-259). Latest researches show that this town entrance has been built in Cesar's time, i.e. at the time of foundation of Pietas Iulia. The date of its erection coincides with the consulships of Lucius Casius Longin and Lucius Calpurnius Piso (Forlati Tamaro B., 1947, no. 81). 
G. Carrara in the nineteenth century and Bruna Forlati Tamaro in early twentieth century were both familiar with the existence of a central edifice on the forum in Pula, nevertheless they were not inclined to believe that to have been a monumental temple; they rather described it as an altar of Histric tribes or a first comitium (Forlati Tamaro B., 1923, 211-223). Subsequent excavations and thorough research carried out by Vesna Jurkić and Attilio Krizmanić revealed different levels of foundations of the Forum edifices and different perimeters of the walls found (Jurkić V., 1978, 100-103; Krizmanić A., 1988, 100-106) indicating succession of different building phases and targeted demolitions on the forum as a result of a new concept and definition of the town’s cultic nucleus in town planning terms, and creation of a place designed for quotidian gathering of people. Protective archaeological excavations and research carried out by Kristina Džin and Narcisa Bolšec Ferri on the Roman forum in Pula in 2006 confirmed the above hypotheses and enabled a general periodization of several building phases and reconstructions of this part of the antique town’s cultic nucleus (Džin K.-Ferri Bolšec N., 2006, 98-105; Džin K., 2007, 26-27; Džin K., 2007a, 6-18).

There was a supposed large altar (comitium) located in the central position, on the sea shore, and flanking the basilica at the time of the Republic. The space, architecturally impoverished in the course of time, requested radical change in accordance with religious, political and economic development, especially after the establishment of the colonia in 50 BC. A monumental temple (octastyle) has been built at the time of establishment of the colonia Pola. Maybe it was this temple to have been dedicated to Hercules, the patron of the town. It has been long held that Jupiter’s temple was located on the plateau of the central town hill (Kaštel), a prehistoric hill-fort settlement, but this hypothesis has never been substantiated by material finds of architecture nor written documents. If this acropolis in Pula ever was a place of worship, it should have been a location dating from prehistoric and protohistoric period to continue in existence until Roman time; that would lead us to conclude that during Roman domination the official Roman pantheon and a place of worship of Jupiter, the supreme Roman deity, were established on the same location. If even there was such a place of worship on this location dominating the whole town, we can only assume that at the time of establishment of the colonia Pola Jupiter’s cult would have been relocated and transferred to a new location during the rebuilding and a planned expansion of the town in its pars inferior, carried out resembling the shape of a crescent. This could have happened only in the case of drastic relinquishment of all town’s traditions, spiritual as well as economic and town planning-related; the new Roman government, in the process of adaptation and renewal of the town in accordance with Roman architectural and cultural canons, could have relocated the cultic nucleus by decree, and have the hilltop fortified as a castrum due to the continuous menace of a possible attack of the rebellious Histri. In that case it is possible that Jupiter worship has been relocated to a cella of the newly built monumental temple standing on a massive platform (18.50 x 33.50 metres), on the reorganized forum at an altitude of 0.88 metres above sea-level, a former primordial place of worship of the Hercules’ cult. Attilio Krizmanić has it that in its first building phase from 50 to 27 BC the temple was an octastyle. After the Battle of Actium, the civil war between the forces of Octavian and those of Mark Antony, Pula was devastated and subdued having fought on the side of Mark Antony only to be renewed, reconstructed, expanded and beautified with majestic public and private buildings. It is then that the Sergii Arch, the peristyle on the newly paved forum (1.10 metres height above the sea-level) and other public buildings were erected, as well as the Augustus’ temple, the place of worship of the Imperial Cult (eratiam). The Capitoline temple was reconstructed as a hexastyle with six columns aligned on its front, slightly eccentrically positioned relative to the axis of the former building (Krizmanić A., 1988, 100-102).

Augustus’ temple was built according to a separate project on a landfill within the bay, south of the reconstructed hexastyle central temple, with its pronaos laying in the same line with the central temple, the two of them being distant 1.22 metres on the south and 1.43 metres on the north, in accordance with the Vitruvius’ canon. It had two intercolumniations (17 x 18 metres) (Forlati Tamaro B., 1923, 211 et seq.; Taylor, 1931, 280; Degrassi A., 1970, 630; Jurkić V., 1974, 14; Džin K., 1998, 140 et seq.; Jurkić V., 2005, 103-107). The inscription on the temple's architrave shows its dedication to Augustus and Roma and sets its erection in the period between 2 BC to 14 AD – Romae et Augusto Caesari Divi f(ilio) Patri Patriae (Forlati Tamaro, B., 1947, no. 21).   
 
Immediately after Augustus’ death, in accordance with the concept of an integral tripartite architectural ensemble of the Capitolium, the third forum edifice with the cultic purpose, the so called east temple, was erected. He was erected above the cut off platform of the central temple while his foundations lean on the basilica’s foundations. The older edifice, the basilica, was probably torn down prior to erection of the new temple. The remains of the basilica's foundations leaning on the bedrock were accurately covered up and packed with debris dating from the time of Claudius; the third Capitoline temple, named, as it is believed, Diana's temple after Pietro Kandler, leans on the basilica's substructure (Krizmanić A., 1988, 100.105). The architectural decoration of the preserved segment of the back of the temple was modelled on the architectural matrix of the Augustus' temple, but the minutely detailed stylization of the fluted piers, the fill of its foundations and dressing of the capitals are dating from Claudius' time, i.e. from the mid-first century AD or are even later, dating from the Flavian period, according to C. Manasse (Manasse G.C., 1978, 127-132; Džin K., 1998, 140).

The erection of this building marks the completion and the full realization of the planned architectural concept of the Capitolium and underlines its particular position on the forum in the town planning terms: Augustus' temple was dedicated to the Imperial Cult and state worship, the central one was dedicated to Hercules and Jupiter, and the so called Diana's temple was probably fulfilling the function of a curia (Jurkić V., 1998, 33, Fig. 11; Jurkić V., 2005, 106; Letzner W., 2005, 47). At that period Pula was at the peak of its civilizational and economic prosperity. This was the time of the completion of the sewage and road systems, the comitium on the south side of the forum, and the extension and completion of the amphitheatre. This time of spiritual and cultural exuberance was also the time of the great architectural prosperity of the southern Istria.
4. The cultic centre of Poreč (Colonia Iulia Parentium)

The building concept of the cultic centre in the town planning sense in the Parentine ager, the administrative area of the Colonia Iulia Parentium, in the first century BC strongly resembled those in Pula and Nesactium (Suić M., 1976, 77). This homogeneous architectural conception, within a specific spiritual-architectural and religious-economic framework, finds its expression and the roots of its development in Poreč and its traditional Histric and Roman principles. 
The island of Poreč has been inhabited since the Bronze Age; the remains of the first settlement are buried under the Roman forum, actually, under the foundation of the original cultic shrine. During the course of time the island was connected with the dry land becoming thus a peninsula on whose highest elevation, on the traditional place of worship and immolations, the oldest temple has been built.
Jacopo Filippo Tommasini knew of this cultic centre of the Roman Parentium in the sixteenth century already as well as Bartolomeo Vergottin in the second half of the seventeenth century (Tomasini J.P., 1654, 181; Vergottin B., 1796). Some scholars, like A. Pogatshnik and M. Prelog, held it that there was only one cultic edifice on the Roman forum (Pogatschnig A., 1926, 1-30; Prelog M., 1957, 17), while others, like A. Amoroso, P. Kandler and A. Šonje, were more inclined to the theory of two edifices (Amoroso A., 1908, 191-204; Kandler P., 1908, Šonje A., 1966, 387-404). 
It is known that in 1896, during archaeological excavations in the Poreč Capitolium, in the area between Mars' and Neptune's temples, foundations of another cultic edifice have been unearthed, probably remains of the former temple's stylobate (Negri G., 1886, 147). According to the remains of the stylobate closely resembling the platform of the central temple in Pula and the large, accurately dressed vertical stone slabs, this oldest cultic edifice, belonging to the circle of older Roman temples of the Etruscan type, characterized by a wide portico (pronaos) and probably having three cellae (cella), was situated in the central part of the western side of the Forum (Mirabella Roberti M., 1949, 271 et seq.). According to A. Pogatschnig (Pogatschnig A., 1926, 10-11)  and A. Šonje (Šonje A., 1966, 387-404) the northern perimeter of this original temple had been torn down during erection of Neptune's temple, as was the case with the erection of the so called Diana's temple in Pula, and the remaining material was packed into the foundations (Jurkić V., 1978a, 101-104). It is commonly believed that this older edifice has been built during the Republic, when Pliny refers to Poreč as oppidum civium Romanorum and when oppidum practically has all the privileges of a municipium, as J. Šašel has it. The already established military and civil administrations organize the Parentine landed area according to the concept of an orthogonal disposition of streets, the pattern of a Roman town (the cultic area, the area of public places and communications, administrative and court buildings, basilicas and tabernae (shops in the Roman forum), residential insulae (apartment buildings), edifices dedicated to free-time activities and recreation, etc.). Degrassi's analyses, based on a mention of government workers of quattuorvir iure dicundo, two of them being from Parentium, states that before obtaining the status of a colony, Poreč had been a municipium (Degrassi A., 1962, 625.630; Šašel J., 1992, 661-668; Starac A., 1999a, 125-126). This indicates that Poreč had been a municipium at the time of the early reign of Julius Caesar already, the very same period of the formation of the concept, erection and usage of the original large temple probably dedicated to the old cult of the autochthonous goddess Terra Histria, mentioned also on an altar (Sticotti P., 1908, 209, 220; Jurkić V., 2005, 107-110, 125-126).

The new historical, political and spiritual transformations and territorial and administrative organizations were introduced and implemented after the establishment of the Colonia Iulia Parentium in 46 BC with the aim to display its status and position and loyalty to the new central Roman government, especially after Octavian's victory when the central temple has been reconstructed. New moments in spatial planning took place after the Battle of Actium in 31 BC (Cassola F., 1972, 43-63). 
Families filling the highest governmental posts at the time of Caesar and the Republic (Taurus, Pansa, Calpurnii, Pisonus, Setidii, Valerii), according to their position, functions, possessions and properties owned in the Parentine ager, were required to reconstruct the Republican temple and erect a new large one dedicated to Mars, the god of war, to commemorate Augustus' victories in the Battles of Mutina in 43 BC, Philippi in 43 BC and Actium in 31 BC.
As we know, on Marafor (Marforio) at the west side of the Parentine forum, archaeological diggings and research in 1905 proved the existence of two temples having been cultic centres and places of worship of the official Roman deities. They were both erected on the forum which had an almost square surface (approximately measuring 45.50 x 33.50 metres), as the Nesactium one, and was built on an elevated position in relation to the surrounding terrain. The forum, built on a stone plateau of the peninsula in close proximity of the sea, like the forum in Pula, was completely paved with stone blocks and flanked on all sides (with the exception of the west side) with gutters. 
Mars' temple, 15.65 metres long, 32 metres wide and 13.17 metres high, was designed and erected according to Greek and Roman traditions. P. Kandler has it that the interior of this sexastyle temple was divided into three cellae, having a portico (pronaos) with double row of pale red Veronese marble columns (Amoroso A., 1908, 191-204). Preserved segments of the gable and columns indicate, leaving no doubt about it, a simple and refined stylization in the first-century BC Corinthian style, resembling the one of the Augustus' temple in Pula and the temple of Mars in Rome.
Although we do not know of any written source undoubtedly indicating the place of worship of Mars, according to the Roman model with a magnificent temple located on the west side of a Roman square called Marafor, Antonio Amoroso has it with good reason that it was probably called Marforio, i.e. Mars' Square, and suggests that a forum with that name had to have a place of worship dedicated to this war god and protector of power of the Roman state, and one of the most important Roman deities surpassed in power and dignity only by Jupiter himself. After all, the cult of Mars was not new to Istria: an altar dedicated to Jupiter, Mars and other gods has been found on the Triestian Capitolium (Kandler P., 1908), while it is generally believed that there was a temple dedicated to Mars located at Verige Bay on Brijuni. Considering the dating of Julio-Claudian temple complexes, whose royal houses were thought to be genealogically related to Venus and Mars, and emperor Claudius' military and naval victories in Britain, it was probably his priest Gaius Laecanius the father who ordered the project and the erection of temples dedicated to the Triad of Neptune – Mars(?) – Venus (Begović V.-Schrunk I., 206, 63-64).


Mythology has it that Mars was father to Romulus and Remus, the founders of Rome. Therefore, he was celebrated by Romans in special festivities. Next to the processions of priests (salia) held every year on the 1st of March, special races (equirie) in his honour were held on 27th of February and 14th of March. In occasion of the regular census of Roman population (census), every fifth year special festivities were held, the so called suovetaurilia. The festivity consisted in a row of animals chosen for this occasion (pigs, sheep, and bulls), led through a crowd of people over Mars' Square and sacrificed to the god on the open air altars. It was held that these sacrifices, figuring as scapegoats, granted redemption to the Roman people and helped them make amends for all the wrongdoings committed; in that way the Romans secured divine assistance and certain victories in future military expeditions.

The other, smaller temple called Neptune’s temple, was located to the north of Mars’ temple. It had the same stylistic features as the Mars’ temple, apart from a somewhat lesser length (7 metres), a 1.80 metres lesser hight of its base, and had a pronaos and one cella. There was a corridor between the two temples, 2.0 metres wide. Only fragments of two columns of the pronaos were left standing and there were also two Corinthian capitals of distinctive stylistic features, similar to fragments of architectural decoration of the Mars’ temple. It is difficult to determine beyond doubt the exact date of the erection of Neptune’s temple, but certain similar stylistic features of decorative elements of Corinthian capitals lead us to the conclusion that in the second century AD the temple underwent a reconstruction and was remodelled after the large first-century AD Mars’ temple, repeating its stylistic features (Šonje A., 1964, 76; Cuscito G., 1976, 33-37, 40.42, 44-45, note 7.14, Pl. 2; Jurkić V., 2005, 110).  

Although Romans held Neptune to be god of waters in the first place and offered him sacrifices to prevent springs and rivers from running dry, the five hundred years of worshipping Neptune as the sea god secured him a special position in the Roman pantheon, so a temple dedicated to this deity found its place in Poreč also. The existence of Neptune’s temple in this town is testified by the inscription on the altar dedicated by Titus Abudius Verus, vice-admiral of the Roman fleet, found at the foot of the town walls, on the pier and close to the town gates leading to the Marafor. A second-century AD votive dedication to Neptune and other gods tells us about restoration of Neptune’s temple (the older one), building of a quay with a breakwater and renovation of a public building. The inscription reads as follows: Neptuno deisq(ue) Aug(ustis) T(itus) Abudius Verus post subpraefect(uram) classis Ravenn(atis) tempio restituto molibus extruct(is) domo exculta in area d(ecreto) d(ecurionum) concessa sibi dicavit. (To the Divine Neptune Titus Abudius Verus after his service as vice-admiral in the fleet of Ravenna, reconstructed his temple, built the shore, adorned the house on the piece of land granted him by the decision of the senators. Dedicated) (Degrassi A., 1934, no. 3; Jurkić V., 2005, 151-152).

However, the mentioned temple reconstruction carried out by Titus Abudius Verus indicates a wish of a highly positioned state official to complete in a conceptual and architectural sense, according to the already existing architectural ensembles in Nesactium and Pula, the cultic centre on the forum, the Capitolium in Poreč. 

This very fact probably indicates that domo exculta from the monument dedicated by Abudius referred to the cultic edifice located to the south of Mars’ temple, the Diana’s temple according to P. Kandler. This Parentine tradition overlaps with the hypothesis of the existence of Diana’s temple on the forum in Pula, but the lack of further evidence substantiating dedication to certain deities leaves these issues in the realm of speculation and hypothesis, although there is a drawing in Venice dating from the sixteenth century entitled ‘Tempio di Diana’ representing architectural remains of cultic spaces and domed edifices similar to Agrippa's Pantheon in Rome (Budicin M., 1987, 268; Baldini M., 1997, 94-95).   

The find of twelve monuments mentioning sex vir Augustala on the Parentine ager, eleven of which are dating from the first century AD and one from the second century AD, leave no doubt that the Imperial Cult was worshipped in Poreč (Tassaux, 1997, 79-82). The existence of a third Capitoline temple dedicated to Augustus, which, as tradition has it, enclosed the Parentine Forum on its southern side in accordance with the traditional concept of the Triad, is only to be determined by further complete revision research. New excavations in this part of town will surely bring the researchers to some sort of conclusion, i.e. either substantiate or deny the aforementioned hypothesis. Both older and more recent research indicate a possible existence of architectural remains of the large temple's foundations in Poreč, so that Roman and Romanized deities venerated on the Forum probably were: Jupiter (?), Mars (?), Neptune, the Imperial or maybe even Diana's cult, as well as the autochthonous Terra Histria (the Land of Istria) – the primeval Istrian deity. 
5. The cultic centre at Verige Bay residence, Brijuni national archaeological park (Insulae Pullariae) 
The maritime-residential complex at Verige Bay on Veli Brijun, whose architectural remains occupy the southern part, the bottom and the northern coast of the bay, stretching over 1,000 metres in length, is the finest and the most luxurious country complex on the Adriatic east coast built by Roman architects in the first century AD. Part of the complex consists of a cultic centre with the appropriate temples to official Roman deities (Gnirs A., 1913; Mlakar Š., Brioni, 1971, 25-26; Begović Dvoržak V, 1993-1994, 25-45; Mlakar Š., 1995, 33-36; Begović Dvoržak V., Begović Dvoržak V., 1995, 47-54; Begović Dvoržak, 1997, 85-96; Begović V. – Schrunk I., 2006, 50-94).   

The residential villa, belonging to the centrifugal Campania type, built on three levels of terraces and its overall architectural ensemble together with the estate occupied the whole bay, while part of the buildings and of the shore with the landing facilities and waterfront are now under the sea. The area occupied by the residential villa and the estate has been excavated and researched by A. Gnirs, archaeologist and conservationist, in the period between 1902 and 1915, while in 1990s it was submitted to revision research carried out by V. Begović Dvoržak. Different functional units and complete architectural complexes were linked into an integral and homogeneous architectural ensemble, built on the terraces gradually rising from the stone–built seashore. On both sides of the bay there were towers facing each other, with mechanisms for raising and dropping the chains (verige), overlooking the maritime access to the estate (Pavletić M., 2003, 130). Adapted to land configuration of the island and the bay which determined the articulation and ground-plan disposition of the complex, the villa harmonizes with the landscape (Begović Dvoržak V., 1995, 47-54) bearing distinctive features of extrovert panoramic maritime residential villas. It had long porticoes overlooking the seashore, terraces, peristyle courts surrounded by functional rooms, and crescent-shaped porticoes lining the shore of the bay (Begović V.- Schrunk I., 2006, 50). The complex consisted of the economic-production unit, the residential unit, temples, porticoes, relaxation rooms (dietae, solaria), the palaestra, thermae, a fish aquarium (piscina vivaria) and gardens.
Part of the estate located on the northern shore of the bay entrance was the economic-production unit including industrial and living quarters of the estate steward and servants, essential for functioning of the complex. A two-storey edifice consisted of a small bathroom, a large fresh water cistern, wool-manufacturing facilities; on its northern part the edifice was opened with a peristyle loggia facing north (Mlakar Š., 1995, 33).

The residential part of the maritime villa, occupying an area of approximately 10,000 square metres, was built on four terraces on different levels which were all adjacent to the central staircase and several separate staircases connecting them. Four entrances led into the residential part: two main entrances adorned with monumental columns and two secondary, north and south, entrances. The main staircase located in the central part of the residential unit connected the different levels of the second, the third and the fourth terrace of the building. The residential and the economic units were situated in the two mutually parallel central atriums, forming a homogenous architectural unit consisting of functionally arranged spaces horizontally and vertically connected with corridors and staircases. The representative living quarters of the owner were located on the second terrace: two bedrooms (cubicula), a bathroom and a latrine, a room with a rounded apse-like end (solarium) for winter vacation. The most representative spaces of the villa, the luxurious guest-rooms, were located at the level of the third terrace: a large triclinium flanked with three rounded spaces with couches reclining on the wall (exedra) and a basilica-like audience hall with a double row of windows in the space between the upper columns. The owner was especially proud of the luxurious inventory of both residential and representative premises, as well as of a large wine cellar equipped with grapes-pressing and wine-production facilities and the equipment for the storage of wine. The floor of the triclinium was paved with black-and-white mosaic executed in the opus tessellatum technique, with motifs of the multiply interlaced meander encircled by the interlacing-ribbon pattern, while the floor of the basilica-like hall was paved with white and pink marble tesserae in the opus sectilae technique, the walls being panelled in varicoloured marble tiles (Gnirs A., 1906, 36-38; Begović V.- Schrunk I., 2006, 59-60). 

Cultivated gardens were located on the third terrace, within the perimeter of the representative peristyle. At the highest point of the elevation, on the fourth terrace, there were two water reservoirs (piscinae) for fresh water, the water being supplied from the regulated spring (nympheum) on the Gradina Hill and conducted by aqueducts (Jurkić V., 2007, 162). 
Further west, built on two levels, there were a thermal complex with dressing-rooms, a sauna and pools with hot, warm and cold water (apodyterium, sudatio, tepidarium, caldarium, frigidarium) and a water heating plant (praefurnium) built between 54 and 96 AD. A curved, crescent-shaped front facade of the thermae articulated with columns was facing the bay. Behind the thermae there were a spacious palaestra and other rooms for sojourn, leisure and recreation. In front of the thermae there was the stone-built quay and a piscina vivaria, the aquarium for fresh sea fish farming.

Functionally defined and integrally elaborated architectural units of the complex, in a centrifugal disposition along the shore of the bay and radially arranged on terraced grounds descending to the sea, were exceptionally harmoniously integrated into one whole with a cultic centre consisting of three temples in its central part, at the bottom of the bay. The natural curve of the shore was repeated in a crescent-shaped portico that was enclosing the three temples axially arranged along the same line, their porticoes facing the sea. The temples which actually were aediculae of the tetrastylos prostylos type, with four columns in the pronaos (measuring 11.83 x 5.92 metres) were studied by A. Gnirs in the period between 1904 and 1915. He attributed the northern temple to Venus (Gnirs A., 1904, 135-136), the protecting goddess of love, seamanship and navigation according to the find of a marble hydria (Gnirs A., 1915, 99-164); according to the architectural decoration found, the south one has been attributed to Neptune (a relief with a representation of Triton, fragment of a capital depicting a trident, fragment of a frieze with a representation of Eros riding on a dolphin) (Gnirs A., 1907, 49-50; Gnirs A., 1908, 171-172). Gnirs held the central temple to have been dedicated to Jupiter (Gnirs A., 1907, 47-48), but there is another hypothesis according to which next to the two temples dedicated to the highly positioned Roman deities Venus and Neptune, the central one could have been dedicated to Mars, the war god, considering it was erected during the Julian-Claudian period, the triumphal victory of the Roman army and the conquest of Brittain, as well as keeping in mind the supposed genealogical link between the Julian dynasty and Mars and Venus (Jurkić V., 2005, 99). 


The temples were linked with a pergola adorned with Tuscan columns while the cultic area of the temples has been encircled by a wall (temenos). There was a plinth for the statue of the emperor or a deity coaxial with the central temple, in the very centre of an empty space in front of the temples. Behind the crescent-shaped portico (porticus) and the temples, which formed the cultic nucleus of the Roman maritime residential villa, there was a circular edifice whose purpose has not been substantiated by research: it could have been a pavilion or a mausoleum (Gnirs, 1908, 173-174; Jurkić V., 2005, 17, 99; Begović V. - Schrunk I., 2006, 69). A large hall for leisure time (diaeta) was located next to Venus’ temple, on one end of the great portico (porticus militaria). At the other end of the great portico there were a hall (cubicula) and another room dedicated to leisure-time (diaeta) forming a self-contained architectural complex of their own with regard to the portico. At the back of the portico, coaxial with its middle axis there was the third diaeta, surmounting it in the total height of a storey. This high edifice dedicated to rest and deliberation, the great portico and the temples formed an integral architectural unit of the representative Brijuni residence's cultic centre. 
 *  *  *

 
The Roman maritime residential villa at Verige Bay and its conceptually rounded cultic centre and place of worship of three Roman deities (Venus, Jupiter or Mars (?) and Neptune) in the regulated archaeological park are part of the Brijuni National Park which also includes archaeological remains of the Histric hill-fort settlement culture (Vitasović A., 2003, 172-176), the late antique settlement and Byzantine military fort (castrum) (Mlakar Š., 1976, 5-41; Vitasović A,, 2007, 157-208; Vitasović A., 2007a, 315-321), early Christian finds of Christian subject matter from the settlement at Madona Cove (St. Mary's Church) (Vitasović A., 2005, 61-101), pre-Romanesque and Romanesque edifices (St. Mary's Church, St. Peter's Church, the Benedictine monastery) and nineteenth-century Austrian fortresses (Tegetthoff, Peneda, Cavarola, Naviglio, Brioni Minor) (Piplović S., 2003, 56-63).

6. The Vižula maritime residence (Isola del Vescovo), the Medulin ecological-archaeological park 
The first archaeologists and conservators who already in the late nineteenth century observed numerous Roman ruins located along the Medulin coast, especially on the Vižula peninsula, were Henrik Maionica, Richard Weisshäupl and Antun Gnirs.

In a brief note in his article Triest – Pola – Aquileia (Maionica H., 1877, 43) H. Maionica mentions the existence of small islands and a promontory called Monte Castello in the Medulin Bay. According to him this area has been inhabited during Roman times, a theory witnessed by numerous remains of walls and floor mosaics visible during low tide.
 Weisshäupl submits almost identical information (Weisshäupl R., 1901, 206). In the early twentieth century Anton Gnirs refers to Vižula as “Isola del Vescovo” and gives the first more extensive information about spacious remains of a large and luxurious Roman villa (Gnirs A., 1908a, 157) which was located on the southern and southwestern part of the peninsula and occupied its large area. The visible remains of the walls extend over more than 600 metres in length. Gnirs had it that the edifice was probably built on terraces, gradually descending from the topmost part of the peninsula towards the sea. According to the well-elaborated Roman villa’s typology, Gnirs concluded that this one belonged to the so called “centrifugal villa” type (Gnirs A., 1908b, 124-143; Jurkić V., 1979, 23-24, 44-45; Jurkić V., 1981a, 97-99; Jurkić V., 1982, 28-29). As far as archaeological finds from the area of the former villa were concerned, Gnirs mentions a sculpture and gives no further information.
 We may only suppose that it was the same sepulchral slab with a carved inscription mentioned by H. Maionica which he held to had been found in the area of the “Isola del Vescovo” (Maionica H., 1877, 43) . 

It was already Alberto Puschi, during the collection of the material for the archaeological map of Istria, who made mention of Medulin but wrongly referring to it as “penisola di Promontore” or just “Isola” (Benussi, B., 1928, 249-250). He said: “The Medulin locality (the promontory of Premantura) was called “Isola” (island) because once it had been detached from the land. Its real name is “Isola Valdenaga” (the Valdenaga Island). Walls, heap of debris and ceramic fragments as well as remains of a pier give us an indication of a former settlement. Significant ruins of a Roman villa have been named ‘Crispus’ villa’.”
 
The theory of a luxurious imperial villa, i.e. the so called “Crispus’ villa” (Constantine the Great’s son) being located on Vižula near Medulin was also set forth by B. Schiavuzzi in 1907 (Schiavuzzi B., 1908, 162), who said: “…Valdenaga Island. The terrain now connected with the land forming a peninsula still has visible traces of a ditch which was once separating them. At the time of the Roman dominance the island was the centre of luxurious life and was also, as tradition has it, residence of the imperial family. It is also believed that Crispus, son of Constantine the Great, has lived here. Precious testimonies to former residences of wealthy Romans survived, a vast area was covered with ruins of a luxurious villa, rich in the most precious marbles, aligned to the east-west direction along the coast. One can also see remains of spacious premises and a masoned shore and piers. Further north there is a big old quarry from which stone used as building material for the villa has been extracted”
 The luxurious villa on the Vižula peninsula was an imperial villa during Constantine the Great (in the run-up to the fourth century) who, as tradition has it, had Crispus, his son from his first marriage and also his joint ruler (princeps), held captive and than killed in the villa.
Gnirs (Gnirs A., 1908, 157) and Schiavuzzi (Schiavuzzi P., 1908, 162) have written about a pier on Vižula belonging to a luxurious villa; the existence of its remains was researched by A. Degrassi (Degrassi A., 1957, 24-81), which was also confirmed by Š. Mlakar and other scholars concerned with underwater archaeological landing facilities (Mlakar Š., 1971a, 106; Vrsalović D., 1974, 48; Vrsalović D., 1979, 142-143, 145; Jurkić V., 1980; Orlić D., 1995, 64-72; Miholjek I., 2005, 291-301; Jurišić M., 2005, 303-313). According to A. Degrassi there were two landing places with piers in Roman Medulin; he also held that the Roman villa on Vižula was a counterpart of the luxurious residence at Verige Bay on Brijuni for its dimensions and rich architectural articulation. He wrote about the villa having its own harbour, that is, its own landing place, even more so as he found a 100-metres long masoned pier stretching in the south-north direction. However, Degrassi held that the other Roman pier was located in an area called Peschiera, inside the today’s Medulin port, and that its foundations were almost completely covered with a layer of ooze and sand.


During the repeated systematic research of the terrain of the peninsula with the surface of 25 hectares in 1990s, remains of architecture have been observed in the northwestern, western, southwestern and southeastern part stretching along the coastline, in total having almost 1200 metres in length. Perpendicular walls form individual architectural wholes which by their orthogonal placement form sections spreading in different directions along the coastline. Remains of architecture of the highest quality are aligned along the coastline, while part of them lies under the sea level: the villa was build in the close proximity of the coast and the gradual sinking of the east Adriatic coast since then has caused part of the masoned piers and premises located by the sea to sink. Visible parts of walls extend some 25 – 30 metres inside the peninsula, overgrown with Mediterranean macchia. The mentioned area shows remains of walls, floors, mosaic fragments, entrances with stone thresholds and staircases, apses, layer of final mortar on the walls, segments of hydraulic mortar, water reservoirs, heating rooms of the thermal area, and conduits built from crushed stone and tegulae or otherwise shaped in rock.

The first survey of the remains of the antique buildings showed application of the following construction techniques: opus isodomum, opus cementicium, opus incertum, opus spicatum and opus mixtum. Stone blocks of different dimensions were accurately laid so to form regular tiers; the thickness of walls differs, so that the walls were 1.5, 2 or 3 Roman feet wide, their thickness at certain points suggesting the existence of an upper-floor construction. The stone, for centuries used in construction of individual parts of the villa, was excavated from the quarry, still opened today, located on the western part of the peninsula; it is also possible the stone has been transported to the surrounding area as building material used in construction of other architectural complexes. 

In a preliminary survey and analysis of the visible remains of architecture carried out in 1992 and 1993, Vesna Jurkić concluded that this was a maritime residential complex consisting of several buildings and displaying several building phases dating from the first century to the late fifth or early sixth century. The complex was built according to the canon of classical Roman architecture: the buildings were built on natural terraces, three or more, partly dressed in limestone, of the hill whose slopes gradually descend to the sea, so the industrial and the living quarters of the complex perfectly harmonized with the surrounding Mediterranean landscape.

The Roman villa on Vižula leaves an impression of a grandiose edifice even today, although only its smaller part being excavated, with its preserved walls reaching the height of two and more metres, with fragments of plastering and frescoes in variegated colours from red to pale red, light-blue, yellow and black, and segments of walls faced in polished green and white marble. Preserved floor mosaics were adorned with black-and-white patterns and bordures. A completely preserved sewage system with stone grilles can still be observed by the sea, serving as drainage canal which conducted liquid waste from the residence to the sea. Traces of lead pipes have been found. Numerous fragments of amphoras and ceramic recipients have been found next to the partly submerged pier, while among the ruins of repositories, under the layer of packed earth many amphoras have been dug out, being the regular inventory of every luxurious Roman estate.
During a decade (1995 – 2005) of excavations and research of the western coastal part of the maritime villa, four main building and reconstruction periods have been established with several intermediate phases (the time of Augustus, Hadrian, Constantine and the early medieval period).
 The part of the complex submitted to research is located on the slope of the hill gradually descending towards the sea; it was actually built on four terraces in several building phases. The first terrace revealed a peristyle corridor (17 metres long) paved with black-and-white floor mosaic, a pool three times lined with the same type of black-and-white mosaic during three different periods, a well-preserved sewage system for liquid waste disposal sinking into the sea with paved drainage canal and a stone grille. There was a very interesting detail of the door with one stair, later torn down, which led out of the corridor, leading from the sea to the pool. The premises located west to the peristyle wall washed by the sea were paved with variegated marble tiles (yellow, black, green, white) in the opus sectile technique (Gobić Bravar Đ., 2006, 303-313).

The large entrance from the peristyle corridor into the hall with a black-and-white mosaic and into the thermal area marks the first and the second centuries of building the villa and living in it. The other part of the building located on the second, higher terrace was occupied by a large water tank with the adjacent paved rooms, while on the third terrace there was the hypocaust central heating system, the inlet ceramic ducts and the outlet lead pipes. 


The second terrace of the complex revealed a large laid rectangular water tank (8.6 x 4.6 x 3.1 metres) which has been cleared of the debris. Its monolith high-quality stone walls were coated with a layer of hydraulic plaster, well-preserved in fragments. The floor paved in the opus spicatum technique had a stone sedimentation basin in its centre topped by a monolith stone cornice covered with a layer of material, which served as an aperture of the tank. The bottom of the antique water tank is beneath the sea level so the sea water fills the tank during the flood tide through a crack on its bottom. The water tank was barrel vaulted along its entire length, that is, the vault was running along its longer side. Large fragments of the caved-in vault which were piled on the northern part of the tank have been removed.
The research carried out in 2006 was confined to the discovery of the space with square mosaic, located north to the hypocaust on the third terrace. Three rooms located on the third terrace east to the hypocaust had polychromatic mosaic floors with geometrical pattern characteristic for the fourth century AD (each mosaic tessera measuring 1.3 x 1.5 centimetres). The mosaic has various geometrical, interlacing-ribbon and rhomboid patterns, the elementary colour of the tessera forming the background and the bordure being ochre. The motifs of the Latin and the Greek crosses, arranged within rhombs and squares, are formed with blue and black tesserae and are framed with white ones (Meder J., 2003, 32, Pl. 2, fig 3). The orientation of the walls built during the last phase is different from the orientation of the underlying older walls on the second terrace. The mosaic floor of the long room (27.48 metres) (ambulacrum) has three individual mosaic fields executed by the same workshop: the wide white border encircles a uniform field outlined in blue, the field consisting of longitudinal asymmetric hexagons with crosses in the centre (bigger crosses measuring 28 x 28 centimetres, the smaller ones 14 x 14 centimetres). The central field, measuring 1.90 x 6.80 metres, has the same design and is additionally bordered with a two-strand pattern thread (12.0 centimetres) in the polychromatic mosaic technique (each rhomb in this field measuring 48.0 x 32.0 centimetres) (Meder J., 2003, 134-135, Pl. 3/2; Pl. 5/2). The maximal length of the thread is 130.0 centimetres. This field was a sort of transitional interspace 2.66 metres wide, with a doorstep, a pathway between the two levels of the building (connecting the second and the third terrace), because both sides had three stairs leading up/down to the higher/lower level.
The corridor (ambulacrum), adorned with the above mentioned mosaic, has been partitioned off in a later phase by building spoliae into fireplace foundations in the late sixth century, the time of barbaric incursions. In the very centre of the corridor a large opening belonging to once monumental door has been discovered, leading to the next, east hall. A staircase descending from the third terrace of the villa led to the said corridor. It is a general opinion among scholars that the aforementioned rooms with mosaic floors were integral parts of a villa reconstructed and used during Constantine the Great, whose coin had been found built into the mosaic floor of the corridor. The monumental door opening with one stair leads from the corridor into a trapezoid room paved with mosaic, with the geometrical pattern of interconnected rhombs. Two stairs dating from a later building phase lead to the adjacent premises of unknown purpose on the fourth terrace. Barbaric incursions into Istria were reflected on the building itself, fireplaces assembled from spoliae being built into several rooms; it was obvious that each room has been used by a group during the course of the sixth and the seventh centuries (Jurkić V.-Džin K., 2006a, 473-486; Jurkić V.-Džin K., 2006b, 250-253).

During the research campaign carried out in 2007 premises east to the ambulacra on the fourth terrace have been dug out. A room of a regular quadrangular layout (measuring 4.0 x 4.0 metres) did not have a mosaic floor, but probing and deep diggings have revealed older walls whose direction, parallel with the peristyle wall and with the area in the close proximity of the sea, coincides with the first building phase dating from the first century. The second room, of an almost trapezoid-like layout, revealed the multiple layers of this complex. The entrance staircase leads from the ambulacra into a room paved with a fine mosaic floor. Wide bordering (80.0 centimetres) made of red ceramic tesserae (each tessera measuring 1.5 x 1.5 centimetres) encircles a square mosaic adorned with geometrical motifs: symmetrical rhombs with their sides executed in yellow tesserae. This network of floor rhombs was at one point in time cut through by a quadrangular opening on its east side and encircled by a wall 30.0 centimetres wide whose purpose is still unknown. On the east side of the room, near the said wall, there is a stair giving access into the next room, still unearthed. During the last phase of the alterations of the edifice a fireplace was masoned in the southeastern part of the room causing the demolition of the floor mosaic, as was the case with the ambulacra.

During the research numerous archaeological objects have been found, figuring as points of reference in establishing the date of the erection of the complex and of its different building phases: glass, bronze, iron, bones, fine and rough household ceramic artefacts, amphoras, doliae, tegulae – earthenware branded with the production stamp and coins. The find of a coin in the mortar of the floor mosaic in the northeastern part of the ambulacra, minted during Constantine the Great is especially significant (Starčić Ettinger Z., 2007, 330-331). Mention should be made of a unique piece of a late antique drinking glass with the relief of a rearing horse, a bronze crossbow-shaped fibula of the ‘T’ type (Džin K., 2003, 148. cat. no. 175) and metal fragment of a plough. Ceramic artefacts have been found in all sectors in which the research has been carried out, and are in all probability dating from the period between the first and the sixth centuries.

There is no doubt that researches which had started in 1994/1995 based on earlier observations made by Henrik Maionica, Richard Weisshäupl and Antun Gnirs have contributed to the understanding of the architectural development of antique and late antique residential complexes in Istria (Jurkić V., 1981b, 7-42; Jurkić V., 1981a, 97-99; Jurkić V., 1982, 28-29; Jurkić V., 2007a, 305), the legal status and social structure of the inhabitants. Each new layer revealed uninterrupted architectural activity; some parts of the construction and layers were intentionally torn down and destroyed during the Roman times already, with the intention of erection of a luxurious monumental late antique residential villa adorned with marble (Gobić Bravar Đ., 2006, 303-313) during the course of the fourth century. 
According to the considerable dimensions of the maritime residential villa at Vižula and the abundance of architectural remains found at the peninsula, the significant number of graves in necropolises as well as individual graves located in the vicinity of the complex, should indicate the proportional number of inhumations performed during the course of six and more centuries. At the location in which a sepulchral stele has been found (1979) (Jurkić V., 1980a, 114-115, Pl. 73) a probing research has been carried out
 in 1980 resulting in the discovery of inhumation and incineration graves. In the following year systematic excavations have begun that established the location as part of a significant late antique necropolis pertaining to a nearby settlement or a villa. The find of forty graves, some of them containing skeletons of several deceased, tells us that several generations had been buried in the newly found Burle necropolis (Jurkić V., 1985, 94.95; Jurkić V., 1986, 167-188.).
The next two stages of research of the Burle necropolis were carried out in 1997 and 1998
 and from 1999 to 2000. Some 312 incineration and inhumation graves have been unearthed and researched; according to the burial custom and burial gifts found in the graves, they are probably dating from the period between the first century BC and the sixth century AD (Džin K., 2000, 8-24; Jurkić V., 2002, 29-31; Jurkić V.-Džin K., 2003, 69-75).

*  *  *

In 1994 the “Project of the Cultural-historical and Archaeological Research and Protection of the Cultural and Natural Heritage of Medulin Municipality” has been introduced headed towards the erection of a polyvalent multimedia pavilion museum on the Burle isthmus, of an open-air archaeological park of antique and late antique monumental graves and sepulchral architecture, as well as preservation of the limitation cemetery wall which indicates the Roman centuriation. After all the necessary excavations, conservation and valorization being carried out, the Project is conceived as a presentation of the maritime residential complex with all its mosaic floors and frescoes situated within an appropriate recreational infrastructure and promenades on Vižula peninsula.

The project
 of archaeological research and cultural and natural heritage protection of Vižula and the belonging Burle isthmus with the antique and late antique necropolis envisaged the presentation of the site based on the archaeological knowledge of individual architectural units’ location on land and under the sea. As the probing research carried out some fifty years ago on the northeastern part of the peninsula revealed the existence of Neolithic objects – brush houses with packed earth floor, there is a possibility, after all the archaeological and accompanying works being done, of the site to be presented as an integral ecological and archaeological park. 
 
Already then it has been concluded that the return to a healthy life and to nature in times of hasty and stressful living promises to Vižula, as the only non-urbanized area in the wider Medulin area overcrowded with tourists, “a splendid future as a clean, green and untouched ecological and archaeological park” (Džin K., 1995, 76-77). A popular archaeological approach to Vižula, modern methods and measures of protection and conservation as well as presentation of the findings within pine groves and beaches will allow the visitors to delight in the spirit of ancient times and healing nature.
7. The Peličeti estate villa (villa rustica), archaeological park in the Pula area 
During the construction of the Istrian highway in summer of 2005, in the vicinity of the Peličeti estate near the Pula Airport, remains of a monumental estate villa were discovered (Džin K., 2006, 120-134). During the research and analysis of the basic remains of architecture (rooms, corridor, courtyard, three water tanks), ornamental (mosaic floors, frescoes) and construction elements (roof tegulae with production stamps, suspenzures, inlet and outlet pipes, canals), and household objects (ceramic and glass vessels, amphoras, doliae, oil lamps, tools and weapons), this entirely unknown site greatly contributed to a better understanding of Roman colonization of the Pula area, different types of Roman villae rusticae and their architectural and functional transformation in the period between the first and the sixth centuries AD. Once a small villa rustica with an elevated cistern, secondary buildings and a courtyard, this newly discovered antique site has developed into a residential object with luxurious mosaic floors and thermae, and a powerful production centre for oil processing (oil production facility), its storage and transport preparation. During the late antique period this residential-economic complex was converted into a fortification unit located on the road to Pula and was one of the main points of the defensive system set up against the Avaro-Slavic penetrations to the rich south of Istria in the sixth century (Džin K., 2006a, 5-15).

During research the existence of a large building complex was established of a built gross area of 5,000 square metres, consisting of production and living quarters. It is characterized by three well-preserved water tanks, one of which shows an extraordinary constructional quality with a well-preserved hydraulic impermeable plaster. Its entire floor was paved with small ceramic bricks in the opus spicatum technique and a sedimentation basin for the water. Five limestone monolithic bases of buttresses supported a barrel vault (12.80 x 6.80 x 3.10 metres). From this water tank canals masoned from tegulae and crushed stone spread towards lower points of the building, passing through a room paved with floor mosaic found in traces. Several monolithic architectural functional elements were found in the water tank itself (an aperture cornice, a stone water supply pipe, a keystone of the vault). It could store 129.12 cubic metres of water (Jurkić V., 2007, 163; Džin K., 2005a, 9-27; Džin K., 2006, 120-134).

The smaller water tank had the capacity of 7 cubic metres with dimensions 2.98 x 2.04 x 1.15 metres) and had two building phases: the first, earlier water tank had exclusively hydraulic impermeable plaster (0.27 metres of thickness), its ground paved in the opus spicatum technique in the later phase. The dimensions of each spica are 10 x 5.5 x 2.0 centimetres. Two small sedimentation basins were built as annexes on the southern side, masoned from minute crushed stone in the full hight of the water tank, each of them coated with hydraulic plaster and having a transversal partition wall masoned from modular brick.

The third and the most recently built water tank had the capacity of 33.87 cubic metres with dimensions 4.85 x 3.88 x 1.80 metres and with at least three utility functions at different times. The earliest function matches the third building phase of the object when it served as a water tank, than as half-buried storeroom accessed by ladders or semi-steps, while the last one matches the period of the destruction of the object when it served as a limekiln (area for quick lime making) due to traces of stone burning (Džin K., 2005a, 9-27).

The residential part of the first building phase include a hypocaust of the Italic type with mosaic floor (black-and-white tesserae) and frescoes, while small ceramic artefacts indicate the oldest building phase and date it between 20 BC and the late first century AD. Next to the residential part decorated with black-and-white mosaic floors and mosaic wall made of blue and gold glass tiles, probably done in the opus vermiculatum technique, industrial quarters were located for the processing of smaller amounts of necessary provisions, as testified by the finds of a built-in ceramic dolium and flat-bottom amphoras) (Džin K., 2006a, 5-15 et seq.).


During the second phase, in the second century AD, the residential quarters of the first phase are submitted to architectonic modification and the complex was widened to the southwestern slope of the elevation and encircled by a monumental wall with a primarily, i.e. functionally built-in press foundation. In the contact area of the wall, i.e. in the space along (the space adjacent to) the wall of monumental dimensions, several neatly arranged fragments of dolia were found spread over the area, so that we may speak of a storeroom of pressed liquids (oil or wine). 

In the third building phase of the object several walls dating from previous phases were relocated, reconstructions were made and walls of poor quality, drystone-like walls full of red soil, were erected, while outside the villa itself an annex was built. The accompanying ceramic artefacts found in the layers corresponding to the construction and usage of this phase are dating from the late antique period, between the late third century and the turn of the fifth and the sixth centuries.

The discovered complex is a villa rustica, that is an extraurban complex with living and industrial quarters which fulfils the living needs of its users and their industrial needs in the sense of producing certain goods for their own necessities and placing the surplus on the market. It is a typical Roman complex of residential and production purpose, the two areas being strictly separated, that is pars urbana – pars rustica (Džin K., 2005a, 9-27).


The analysis of the spatial arrangement of the units of the complex revealed that the living quarters were located on the plateau of the elevation, in the eastern wing, surrounding a large courtyard with the monumental water tank, while a smaller thermal complex with a hypocaust was located south of the water tank, from which a system of canals led the water towards the lower-lying parts, i.e. the industrial quarters of the complex. Along the northern and the western side of the courtyard the two smaller water tanks were located, of which one had also two smaller basins made of brick, used for sedimentation. The courtyard surrounding the large water tank was enclosed by a portico which led to the industrial quarters on two levels: on the courtyard level, to the left of the western entrance, a tools repository and stables were located, while to the right of the western entrance a storeroom for amphoras with processed products was located. The eastern entrance led to the lower level, on which olives were processed and other products from the estate were stored. The estate was encircled by a 200 metres long wall, oriented diagonally to the orientation of the complex, with a hard-packed cobbled layer along the wall footing, so that we can speak of a large estate, that is, of a complex of various industrial buildings. The inter-connectedness of the three water tanks could not be substantiated by architectonic remains of canals and pipelines but the functional division of the complex into a residential and supplying part around the larger water tank and the part for the livestock around the two small water tanks is clearly visible (Džin K.-Paić A., 2007).


The residential and economic complex near the Peličeti estate at the western beginnings of the fertile Valtura valley was the most fruitful and the most densely populated part of southern Istria in Roman times. A road connecting colonia Pola and municipium Nesactium passed along the northern rim of the Valtura valley at that time. It was this good road connection and its location between Pola and Nesactium that facilitated the transport of the goods from the production centre to the town and vice versa. With the emergence of a developed economy, as a result of the establishment of the colonia Pola, a new type of rural settlement has appeared – the country villa (villa rustica), which embodied the concept of village settlements on agricultural estates. Within its scope a familia rustica was formed accordingly, consisting of slaves or wage labourers permanently living on the estate and working for their master. It was headed by an experienced manager (villicus) who took care of the entire estate in the name of its owner. The antique site near the Peličeti estate was a complex production unit, having, in addition to the olive presses, all the necessary spaces and facilities for a functioning agricultural estate: storage for tools, accessories and crop, stables for livestock, space for making the tools and other.

The Settidii family might have owned this estate near the Peličeti estate. The gens Settidia was one of the few families recorded in Roman Istria in the late first and the second centuries AD, belonging to the highest ranks of power surrounding the Emperor himself. The Setidii remained well documented in the north Adriatic and the Danube regions, especially in Pula and Nesactium, the colonial ager of Pula. This attribution of some of the estates in the Valtura valley between Pula and Nesactium to the Setidii family become even more probable with the discovery of the monument to Tito Prifernio Paeto Settidiano Firmo in the Nesactium forum in 2004 (Tassaux F., 1984,193-229; Starac A., 1999, 79, 91, 107; Rodà I., 2005, 269-278). A member of the gens Settidia was chosen as a protector of Nesactium, patrono municipii. It is explicitly evident that the nearby Nesactium certainly was a municipium at the turn of the first and the second century (Jurkić V., 1983a, 10-13; Jurkić V., 1985, 70). Owing to the find of the aforementioned inscription and other monuments we may thus suppose that this residential and economic complex near the Peličeti estate belonged to the Setidii family (Džin K., 2006 a, 5-13).

*  *  *


A segment of the Istrian highway was built over the northwestern part of the estate (two smaller water tanks, the storeroom with the press). After a thorough preservation and partial reconstruction of the walls, the larger part of the estate including the large water tank in the vicinity of the Peličeti estate near Pula entered the phase of its regulation and presentation as an archaeological park. In that way all the travellers, leaving the Istrian highway at the Peličeti estate near the Pula airport, will be able to visit the archaeological location and get acquainted with the rich Roman past as part of history of southern Istria, in the peace and quiet of a rural ambience and greenery. 
8. The Červar Porat brick manufacture centre and oil production facility, archaeological park in the Parentine area 
Červar's toponym – Cervaria, is first mentioned in the Ravenna Cosmography as the name of an island – “Nam in golfo occidentale in ipso Mari Magno littore Dalmatie seu Liburnie atque Ystrie sunt insule, inter ceteras, quae dicuntur, id est … Cervaria”. However, already in 1540 Pietro Coppo, in his work Del sito de Listria, links the name Ceruera with Červar Porat, a bay and a harbour with visible secche especially during low tides. The text does not mention the name of the settlement situated on the coast, which today bears the name of Veliki and Mali Črvar. Pietro Coppo says of Červar: “… dal Quieto a Ceruere reduto ouer porto cosi ditto sono miglia tre for a del porto de Ceruera vno miglio in mar certi Scoieti et secche sotto acqua et de sopra ne appareno quando le bassa et quando le alta non se vedono de longeza quasi mezo miglio…”.(Jurkić V., 1978b, 95-107). The bay was called Porto in the sixteenth century already, an indication of the traditional use of the word both as a toponym and to describe the use of the bay as a safe harbour or quay, the more so if we consider that the name has survived until today and that there are remains of Roman docking facilities, unfortunately not sufficiently researched.
Archaeological excavations and research carried out in Červar Porat between 1976 and 1979 proved the existence of a ceramic production facility with a brick-kiln as early as the first century AD, and an agricultural processing facility – oil refinery as early as the second century AD located in the bay in front of which the island of Cervaria was situated in late antiquity. Two architectural units were researched: the southeastern unit with architectural remains of a kiln, and the northwestern unit with well-preserved elements of an oil production facility. The brick-kiln and the oil refinery were built on different levels due to a slight inclination of the ground that gradually rises from the sea level from east to west. The architectural link between the two units was interrupted in the past by quarrying. After the conclusion of archaeological research in the artificial ground depression (quarry) the road leading to a newly built marina and quay of Červar Porat was built. 
The entangled disposition of rooms in the first unit indicates stratification typical of long-term use of a building. The walls are mainly oriented towards the four cardinal points, nevertheless, it is difficult to give a precise interpretation of the building because many parts on all sides are missing. The fundamental parts of the brick-kiln that were discovered, studied and preserved are situated inside a multilayered production building which was probably built in the first century AD and was used until the fifth and sixth centuries; during that period many significant alterations took place. The kiln represents its first building phase: it was situated inside a quadrilateral room in that way that the firebox tunnel (9 metres long, 1 metre wide, barrel vaulted) was aligned in the north-south direction. According to its dimensions and typology, with its square chamber and a single corridor with arches, the kiln belongs to the II/b type. On the axis of the bed of the kiln, on the southern wall, there was a large door opening which gave access from the exterior anteroom, from where the furnace must have been fed. There were two side-rooms flanking the main room of the kiln, functionally linked to the main room. In a corner of one of the rooms there was a small quadrilateral pool (measuring 1.3 x 1.4 metres), coated with white hydraulic waterproof mortar and paved with yellow bricks; while three uneven round containers (“wells”), probably used to refine argil in the first phase, were discovered in the other of the two side-rooms (Jurkić V., 1997, 25-26, 76-78). 

The kiln is defined by the remains of the perimeter pilasters which supported the rectangular burning chamber built on them. From the preserved remains it is not clearly defined whether the kiln had a permanent structure (i.e. had an opening for entrance and filling/emptying) or whether it was dismantled after each baking cycle. Regarding the fact that the kiln was situated inside multilayered building elements of the production building, it probably had a permanent structure. The outer dimensions of the kiln are 9 x 8 metres, while its interior measures 7.5 x 6.3 metres. Only the lower part of the chamber is preserved. The lower part consisted of nine ribs 4 metres long and 30 centimetres wide, built with gray-yellowish brick (lateres) of the usual modular brick size or the so called “bipedal” brick measuring 40 x 30 x 10 centimetres, and with stone, which bore the bricks of the grid. The space between the ribs measured 28 to 32 centimetres. Nine side channels, 28 to 30 centimetres wide and 4 metres long, were perpendicularly connected to the main channel whose bottom gradually rose to the level of the firebox towards the edge of the kiln. The wall of the main channel was masoned from wedge-shaped brick, in that way the vault of the channel was regularly rounded. The transversal ribs that supported the grid were also built with brick which was regularly and well bound by hardened clay on the inside. Due to the high temperatures the ribs acquired a green-greyish colour. The coating of amorphous fire clay is preserved in many points. It held the bricks together forming an integral solid rib of the kiln under which a rather regular semicircular arch of the channel was profiled, whose arches composed a part of the main channel of the kiln. The grid placed on the ribs of the kiln facing the surface of the channel measured 4 x 5 metres. In one of the later phases (probably in the fourth century AD) the back side of the kiln, in relation to the position of the entrance to the firebox (praefurnium), was walled up by the walls of a small home thermae with a firebox and a hypocaust. 
The channel of the furnace (praefurnium) is tunnel-shaped (9 metres long), barrel vaulted, the vault built with wedge-shaped bricks. It is partly buried in the ground so that the top of the vault that held the grid was on the same level of the surrounding rooms. Research of the inside of the channel proved that the channel was thoroughly cleaned after the last baking process (as, after all, was usually done after every production cycle). Fragments of archaeological objects were found in the channel: little green glass bowls, oil lamps with volutes and a relief representation of Pegasus, and fragments of a fine Roman ceramic dating from the second half of the first century AD. Those fragments made it possible to establish the time at which the kiln ceased to be used, which probably happened because the upper parts got worn out, that is the parts that were exposed to high temperatures and atmospheric influences. Petrographic analysis of the kiln showed some interesting results. The light-yellowish dross from one of the kiln ribs was a re-melted tuff stone, a volcanic stone, indicating its origin was not Istrian. Another result derives from the study of six samples taken from various parts of the kiln surface scattered in the premises after the kiln was out of use and the facility was turned into a yard. The gray-green porous dross is a silicate mineral, but further analysis could not establish beyond doubt whether it was a raw stone or a new material resulting from exposition to high temperatures (Jurkić V., 1978c, 427-438).

The period in which the kiln in Červar Porat was in use can be dated to the second half of the first century AD and it was certainly not in use for a long period of time. The production was abandoned, the upper part of the kiln’s chamber was demolished, and the premises were used as a yard. The surrounding premises continued to be used, but fishing became the main occupation of the inhabitants of the building. The three circular receptacles which were built at the same time as the ceramic kiln were buried under the material dating from the late first century AD. 
 The third and the fourth building phases of the villa rustica complex brought about changes in the architectural concept of the central part. Most of the walls dating from the second phase continued to be used, with the exception of the kiln which had been demolished and of the room called “cistern”. This larger room was completely buried under ceramic waste consisting of fragments of tegulae and amphorae. In the area above it a semicircular wall with external reinforcement was built. Over the area once occupied by the kiln new rooms were built, one of them preserving the remains of the heating system and a small rectangular niche in the semicircular external wall, which undoubtedly indicates the existence of a small house thermal unit. Reconstruction of the rooms situated north-east of the kiln in the fourth century, created three separated residential spaces with plastered floors in which two fireplaces were built at the end of the sixth century while the third one was discovered in the third space (Jurkić V., 1978b, 263-298).

A semicircular exedra represents a particularly interesting find, probably built on the buried area of the large space – the “cistern” – in the fourth century AD. The fact that the semicircular apsidal wall with external pilasters faces south does not speak in favour of a theory according to which this was a space dedicated to a Christian sanctuary. The western part of the semicircular wall did not survive, while the slightly elongated apsidal semicircle is interrupted on the northern side by a monolith base. One of the plausible explanations is that we are dealing with the apsidal part of a large hall belonging to the residential part of this maritime villa where the owner (dominus) of the estate resided, with private bathing equipment, which was totally reconstructed in the fourth or the early fifth century AD, on the remains of the Roman villa rustica. The other explanation according to which this area had a sacral function with the altar partition wall introduced in the fourth or the fifth century within the remains of the production building is not plausible (Tassaux F., 2003, 383-390).  
Another architectural unit with the walls aligned in the north-south direction with a slight deviation towards east was found a couple of metres to the northeast of this Roman production complex with the kiln. The building was built on a small elevation of a promontory and is partially defined on three sides by perimeter foundation walls: the western one is completely preserved, while the northern and the southern walls are only partially preserved. The eastern part of the unit was mostly destroyed due to the difference in altitude towards the bay: most of walls were destroyed because their stones were extracted and a small quarry was formed. The remains of some foundations, oriented differently from the well-preserved remains of the square building, well seen in the first room on the south facing east, indicate an earlier building phase of the object situated on the elevation (first to second century AD) which was certainly connected with the building phases of the neighbouring building known for the find of the ceramic kiln.
 The square building constructed in an earlier phase of the villa rustica (first century AD) is defined as a production complex (oil production facility) established in the late second century. The remains of a couple of presses (torculum) and of an olive mill were found in two rooms of approximately same size, each measuring 12 x 8 metres, situated on the highest point of a slight elevation. The northern room was paved with small bricks in the opus spicatum technique, the so called fishbone pattern, while the circular bases of the pressing recipients (forum) were convex, created using the same building technique. The liquid would run from circular channels situated around the base of the olive press, going into a single channel built with smaller regular stone blocks with a groove continuing into the other room to the south. Large monolithic stone blocks with a narrow and low rim functioned as basis for the beams’ support. The remains of an elliptic base of a mill (1.7 x 2 metres), built of small roughly hewn and slightly dressed stones, were found in the southwestern corner of the northern room. Three mill stones made of limestone were also discovered: two of them were entirely preserved, the third one only partly preserved in fragments. They were situated beside the wall of the big room in the northern part of the building which was probably a storeroom. The first entirely preserved mill stone has a diameter of 88 centimetres and is 40 centimetres thick, with a square hole in the middle (24 x 24 centimetres). The other of the two entirely preserved mill stones has a diameter of 84 centimetres, is 25 centimetres thick and has a rectangular hole in the middle (20 x 22 centimetres). The third mill stone, broken off into one third of its perimeter, had a diameter of 88 centimetres, 14 centimetres thick, with a square hole in the middle (23 x 23 centimetres) (Jurkić V., 2005a, 29-49).

Circular pressing areas (areae) had a diameter of 1.9 metres and a channel for collecting liquid (canalis rotunda) which was 10 centimetres wide and 5 centimetres deep. The outflow channel for extracted liquid was situated tangentially to the circular convex bases. The channel was interrupted on its northern side so we could not establish where it ended. It changed direction for a couple of centimetres near the southern circular base, so that it was connected to the northern base only by a narrow outflow channel, while it was connected with the southern base through a wide opening. To the opposite sides of the outflow channels (in respect to the circular areae), symmetrically arranged, a stone block functioning as a shallow container was placed, each of them measuring 2.1 x 0.9 metres. A narrow rim 12 centimetres wide framed a large indented area (6 centimetres deep), inside which there are no other engraved elements that would indicate the former existence of pillars supporting the press beams. However, their position in respect to the circular pressing areas indicates those were really lapides pedicini. Namely, the wooden parts could have been set so that the perpendicular beams were fixed inside other wooden constructive elements which could not move sideways because the raised rims of the stone blocks prevented it. This means that the upper parts of the perpendicular beams were fixed to the beams of the roof construction, as would be the case with “simple” stone bases with two slots. These stone blocks were not linked to the outflow channel, and therefore were not used as sedimentation pool. Since there are no traces of wooden or other similar elements (lateral sides), the stone containers could not be vessels used for hand pressing. As there are two presses with a circular area and fixing blocks for perpendicular beams’ bases, there must have been a lowering mechanism situated in the western side of the room. It is exactly in that part of the room that the floor slants downward due to the depression of the soil, but the lower level has not been discovered. The supposed length of the beam of 5.5 metres corresponds to the lower area, and a similar organization of the oil production process is known at other presses in Istria (Brijuni-Kolci and Val Madona Bay) (Vitasović A., 2007, 157-210; Vitasović A., 2007a, 315-326).


The liquid flowed from the circular channels situated around the base of the press and continued its course alongside a singular channel that was also made of small bricks and passed through a hole in the wall, flowing into a channel made of stone blocks with a groove which continued in the other room to the south. The stone segments were 40 centimetres wide, while the channel was 12 centimetres wide. Only three stone blocks with groove have survived, located in the northern part of the room. A fragment of a stone block with two square slots was discovered on the western side of the channel and parallel to it; obviously another part of the beam press (lapis pedicinus). A damaged stone block, measuring 1.86 x 0.78 centimetres, that was probably moved, is the only preserved part of the pressing base. The remains of another, square shaped, pressing container with a similar groove around it were found in the same room only a bit more to the south. In this case the base of the beam’s support was not preserved, but the lapis pedicinus was found in another position, in the northeastern part of the remains of the building. Its dimensions are 2.1 x 1 metre, and there are two slots (47 x 49 centimetres) connected in the central part of the upper surface by a narrow engraving, to form a single unit 5 centimetres deep with respect to the margins of the stone. On both narrower sides a perpendicular slot was engraved, 22 x 17 centimetres, functioning as wooden beam slots. In any case it can be assumed that the bases of the supports belong to an earlier phase and that the object has been reconstructed because otherwise it is hard to imagine functional and practical reasons for the presence of two pairs of pillars functioning as pressing beams’ holders in the very same building (Matijašić R., 1998, 203-208).

During the excavations, it was established that there was a channel conducting the liquid from the last base towards southwest, passing over the place where the lapis pedicinus must had been situated. Preserved remains could not provide sufficient information about the position of the end of the channel. It is probable that the pressed liquid (oil) was poured into three big ceramic containers (dolia) whose remains were found in a lower corner room, built into a short pedestal. The level difference between the floor of the room with the presses and the pedestal for vessels in the adjacent room is 1.2 metres. The vessels had a diameter of 90 centimetres, while their preserved height is 50 centimetres. It is possible that these vessels were used to pour out the pressed liquid with the aim of separating water and sediment, an assumption supported by the fact that a channel for refuse liquid was discovered in the very same room. This channel was built in the floor, covered with regular stone slabs and a grid (40 x 30 centimetres), which led the refused liquid through the wall and continuing in a paved channel directly into the sea. The channel located in the floor of the room was also connected and proceeded from the adjacent room built on the same level. A similar channel was built outside the building starting from the outflow coming out of the western wall of the building and proceeding in the northwest direction for about 12.8 metres, which was connected by a smaller outflow channel with the press room.  It is held that this was an outflow channel for refuse liquid, probably the liquid used for extracting oil from ground olives. However, it is certain that the channel had a role in the overall technological process of the oil production facility.
 The production complex for processing olives, equipped with four presses, was built in the second century AD on the remains of an older building that was linked with the adjacent ceramic centre. During the research work, traces of later reconstructions carried out on the oil mill building were discovered, a fact witnessed by the remains of a wall built over two containers situated in the northern room with presses. The different technical workmanship of the two presses found in the two rooms indicates that they were built at different times. It is our belief that this olives’ processing complex was partly converted to new purposes in the sixth century AD, but was already abandoned in the seventh century AD. 

On the basis of the analyses of the Červar Porat Roman estate villa architectural remains (brick-kiln, oil processing facility), comparative historical and architectural results, it is our conclusion that the oldest traces of walls on the west coast of the Červar bay are dating from the period of the establishment of the colony of Poreč (Colonia Iulia Parentium) in 46 BC. The main ground plan of the production building of the villa rustica had its origin in the enlargement and building of the complex during Emperor Tiberius, the same period in which Poreč and its surroundings took part in the economic prosperity of the colony with olive growing and viticulture, special attention being given to craftsmanship, agriculture and fishing (Tassaux F., 1986, 157-182). It is the same time in which the vast areas of Červar Porat, Loron and Santa Marina most probably formed a unique complex spreading over 1,000 to 1,500 hectares. That senatorial estate in the first half of the first century belonged to Sisenna Statilius Taur, son of T. Statilius Taur who was a friend of Emperor August and third most powerful politician in the Empire. Sisenna was a consul in 16 BC, one of the most powerful Istrian estate owners who bestowed on Rome the gift of the first stone Amphitheatre. It is also the same time of the first foundations of Roman buildings found on the eastern coast of the bay of Červar, the neighbouring Loron (Tassaux F., 2001, 309-324). At that time, a kiln for baking ceramics was in function as a part of Červar’s villa rustica, which continued to be used until the end of the first century AD. Argil extracted from sediments on the eastern side of the shallow bay was used for production, or the one imported by ships from northern Italy. Ceramic products were almost certainly shipped by sea to distant and nearby local areas, since that whole area was a renowned ceramic production area. There was another, even stronger ceramic centre owned by Calvia Crispinilla, situated on the eastern side of the bay, in Loron, from the time of Nero onwards. The centre was specialized in the production of ceramic containers (amphoras, vessels) and met the needs of the whole Poreč area, while a certain amount of products was exported to other regions until the end of the second century AD (Tassaux F., 1984, 193-229).

 After the production of ceramics in the workshop of the villa rustica in Červar Porat was abandoned, the ceramic kiln was destroyed and the soil was flattened over the area were it used to be, and the inhabitants turned to fishing, olive growing and olive processing. A ceramic production centre was established on the other side of the Červar bay, under the elevation of Loron. During the second century and at the beginning of the third century AD there were no changes in the main layout of the southern part of the villa rustica in Červar Porat, with the exception of some internal alterations and the filling up of former units (ceramic kiln and the “cistern” space – a possible storeroom). A new era of building and reconstructing of the Roman villa rustica took place in the third century AD. The layout of the southwestern part was changed, as well as its function, as indicated by the new structures of the walls and the new spatial orientation of that part of the building. The purpose of the rooms was also changed. At that time a residential complex was built, equipped with a central heating system, a thermal area with a lavatory, a large hall of a maritime building belonging to a possible administrator of the estate (dominus) situated in the area of the former villa rustica and the ceramic kiln. Earlier in the second century, on the nearby elevation, on the northern part of the remains of the former villa rustica, a new agricultural production centre for olive processing of great capacity was built, which also shows signs of two stages of building and reconstruction (Jurkić V.-Džin K., 2005, 19).


At the end of the fourth century AD, the inhabitants of the thus reconstructed maritime villa became Christians; the agricultural production and the processing industry were gradually decreasing, and the Roman Empire disintegrated. The inhabitants of Červar’s villa did not escape the arrival of the barbarians and the fall of the cultural and living standards. At that time, the inhabitants strove to preserve their customs and beliefs, their everyday life and agricultural production. It was in that period exactly, in the first half of the sixth century, that another reconstruction of the oil production facility took place: the mill stones for olive grinding were renewed and the old ones were built into the foundations of the partition walls of the storage area facing the sea, as recorded by Cassiodorus. However, it is obvious that there was a sudden decline and impoverishment of the Červar Porat residential-production complex, due to invasion of the Avars and Slavs (599 – 611 AD) at the end of the sixth century. The central, western and northern parts of the villa were abandoned, empty. The heating system stopped functioning. The thermal area and the restroom were no longer used. The residential hall was destroyed. There were occasional reconstruction works and smaller adaptations done in the semi-devastated rooms of the buildings, especially in the storage area of the oil production facility, in the northwestern part of the production complex. Square fireplaces were built in the rough mortar floor of the residential part, while shallow Roman stone vessels placed in the former oil production facility premises were used as auxiliary fireplaces for fire burning and food preparation (Jurkić V.-Džin K., 2005, 20-21).

In conclusion, it must be pointed out once again that the production-residential complex in Červar Porat was built on the remains of another building dating back to the first century BC; that the complex worked as a ceramic, residential, agricultural and production centre from the first century to the sixth century AD; that it had various building phases, oscillations in its progress or decadence depending on the current owners and the inhabitants of the estate, and on the social, political and historical changes that influenced the Istrian peninsula as a part of the Tenth Roman Region “Venetia et Histria”. This archaeological complex represents a clear example of the continuous presence of Roman villas on the western coast of Istria throughout the centuries (Jurkić V., 1981a, 77-106; Tassaux F., 1990, 69-128).

*   *   *


The archaeological excavations and research conducted on the remains of the Roman villa rustica in Červar Porat lasted three years (1976 – 1979). The existence of two architectural units was established: a production ceramic facility with a kiln and the late antique residential part, and the agricultural production complex of the oil production facility. Thanks to the full comprehension on the part of the investor, a project for the hotel complex was modified and relocated; in that way, after partial conservation work and reconstruction of the brick-kiln, of the residential part of the building with small private thermae and the conservation of the architectural remains of the oil production facility (in 1980), the architectural remains of the Roman villa rustica were incorporated into the spatial planning of the residential, park and marina area. A well-designed and realized landscaping of the terrain surrounding the archaeological complexes in Červar Porat and a realized area of the archaeological park became the model of the successful cultural presentation for tourism of our archaeological heritage in 1980. Unfortunately, due to the enlargement of the marine area and unresolved issues regarding ownership of the land in and outside that area, in the period from 1980 to 1990, the established archaeological park was gradually devastated because it was used as a boat and boat material depot. It has also partially fallen into disrepair as a result of inappropriate and irregular care of the archaeological heritage and the greenery. Obviously, the exceptionally valuable solution of the presentation of the Roman brick-kiln and oil production facility has been almost completely degraded, although it was successfully incorporated in the newly built settlement and the marina and it represented an outstanding contribution to the promotion, preservation and presentation of ancient Croatian monuments at the end of the last century (Jurkić V., 1995, 25-26). 
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� Maionica H., 1877, 43 - (cit.: »Pola … Ein zweiter Ort in der Umgebung von Pola wo ich spuren aus der Römerzeit noch besichtigen konnte, ist das südlich von Pola gelegene M e d o l i n o. Die Spitze der istrischen Halbinsel wird von einer Lundzunge gebildet, auf welcher sich das Dorf Promontore befindet.  Der östliche Teil von Promontore bildet mit einer kleineren gegenüber liegenden Landzunge, Monte Castello genannt, die Einfahrt zu dem Hafen von Medolino. Derselbe wird heutzutage nur zur Zeut der Stürme von den Schiffen besucht, zur Römerzeit aber schrint der Platz mehr bedeutet zu haben. Maurewerk mit mosaikfussboden, das bei der Ebbe sichtbar unter dem Wasser hervortritt, bezeugt römische Ansiedlungen»). 


� Gnirs A., 1908, 157 - (cit.: « … Diese Untersuchung liess deutlich erkennen, dass die Gestade der Isola di vescovo an der Süd-und Westseite die Baureste einer ausgedehnten Luxusvilla aus bester Zeit der römischen Antike tragen. Ihre Mauerzüge können auf dem Strandgebiete in einer Ausdehnung von ungefähr 600 m. umausgesetzt verfolgt werden. Es handelt sich hier um den Typus der geschlossenen Villenanlage, welche die Spitze einer Landzunge auf Terrassen umbaut und von einem Mittelpunkte aus sich zentrifugal nach allen Seiten öffnet. Zum Teil erstrecken sich bauliche Überreste in des Meer hinein und füllen einen Teil der Hafenbucht Val Fontana zwischen der Isola di vescovo und der Halbinsel Castello. Hierher verlege ich aush die zur grossen Villa gehörige antike Hafenanlage, deren Bauanlagen heute submarin versetzt sind. – Eine Untersuchung durch Tastgrabungen, um wenigstens in den Hauptzügen das Grundrissarrangement blosszulegen, hoffe ich in der nächsten Zeit durchzuführen»).   





� Benussi B., 1928, 249-250 - (cit.: La località di Medolino (penisola di Promontore) era della Isola perche in origine era staccata dalla terra ferma. Il suo vero nome e «Isola di Valdenaga». Muraglie, cumuli di rovine e di laterazi, ed i residui del molo ci danno le linee dell'abitato. Copiose sono le rovine detta villa romana detta «la villa di Crispo»).


� Schiavuzzi P., 1908, 162 - (cit.: «…»Isola di Valdenaga». Il terreno che essendo ora unito alla terra ferma forma una penisola, porta traccia d'un fossato che lo divideva da essa. L'isola fu nell'epoca romana sede d'un luogo di delizie, ed a quanto vuole la tradizione, di membri della casa imperiale. Si vuole anzi che qui avesse dimorato Crispo, figlio di Costantino magno. Della dimora di ricchissimi romani ci offrano valida testimonianza le spaziose rovine d'una villa splendida, ricca di marmi finissimi, che veggonsi al lato di levante – mezzogiorno, lunghesso la sponda del mare. Vi si scorgono spaziose stanze e sulla riva traccie di dighe di moli. E più a ponente una grande cava antichissima, da cui s'estrassero le pietre per construire la villa»).


� Research of this part of the Vižula’s coast in the local waters of Medulin was carried out by I. Miholjek and M. Jurišić of the Croatian Conservation Institute in spring 2007, confirmed Degrassi’s information and discovered yet another pier stretching southwest.


� The archaeological excavation was carried out by the International Research Centre for Archaeology Brijuni – Medulin headed by Prof Vesna Girardi Jurkić Ph. D., technical supervisor Kristina Džin M. S., research assistant Davor Bulić and in cooperation with the Archaeological Museum of Istria in Pula.


� The excavations and the research were headed by Vesna Girardi Jurkić, head of the Archaeological Museum of Istria in Pula.
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